# Fate of Fluorosilicate Drinking Water Additives

Edward Todd Urbansky\*

United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, National Risk Management Research Laboratory, Water Supply and Water Resources Division, 26 West Martin Luther King Drive, Cincinnati, Ohio 45268

Received January 29, 2002

## Contents

Ι.	Introduction	2837
	A. Reasons for Renewed Interest	2837
	B. Background: Perceptions and Simplifications	2837
	1. Drinking Water Regulations and Health	2838
	2. Standards for Drinking Water Additives	2838
	3. Fluoridation Advocacy or Requirement	2838
	4. Available Fluoridation Additives	2838
	5. Definition of <i>Complete</i> and <i>Fast</i> Reaction	2839
	C. Scope	2839
II.	Studies of the Dissociation and Hydrolysis Equilibria	2839
	A. Kleboth's 4,5,6 Model	2840
	B. Busey's 2,6 and 2,4 Models	2841
	C. Ciavatta's 1,1,4,6 Model	2842
	D. Other Equilibrium Studies	2842
III.	Fractional Speciation	2843
	A. Fractional Distributions under Drinking Water Conditions	2843
	B. Influences of Metal Cations on Fluoride Speciation	2845
IV.	Kinetics	2846
V.	Conclusions and Unresolved Issues	2850
VI.	Acknowledgments	2851
VII.	References	2851

# I. Introduction

#### A. Reasons for Renewed Interest

Periodically the EPA reexamines its information on regulated drinking water contaminants to determine if further study is required. Fluoride is one such contaminant undergoing review. The chemical literature indicates that some deficiencies exist in our understanding of the speciation of fluoride derived from fluorosilicate additives used to treat drinking water; hexafluorosilicic acid is the most commonly used additive. In addition, legislation governing the use of fluoridating agents has been proposed recently at the state level. One such bill under consideration includes language that specifically addresses issues such as partial dissociation products, products formed by reactions with other dissolved matter, and total release of F<sup>-</sup>, and it imposes requirements that any such species be measurable at concentrations as low

 $^{\ast}$  To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: <code>urbansky.edward@epa.gov.</code>



Ed Urbansky joined the Water Supply and Water Resources Division of the EPA's National Risk Management Research Laboratory in July 1997. Although he is an inorganic chemist, much of his work at the EPA has dealt with disinfection byproduct measurement in chlorinated or ozonated drinking water. He has also been involved in work on the perchlorate anion as an environmental contaminant. Author or coauthor of 35 peerreviewed publications and editor of a book, *Perchlorate in the Environment*, he also serves on the Editorial Board of the *Journal of Environmental Management* and the Advisory Board of the *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*. He attended Allegheny College and Purdue University.

as 1 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> in potable water.<sup>1</sup> Consequently, there is renewed interest in the chemistry of fluoridation processes and additives.<sup>2</sup> The principal objectives of this review are as follows: (1) to enumerate *unresolved chemical issues* germane to understanding fluoridation and ascertaining the fate of fluoride and fluorospecies, (2) to critically review what is known or reported, and (3) to assemble a knowledge base to provide a starting point for future study.

#### B. Background: Perceptions and Simplifications

A number of misconceptions and oversimplifications frequently appear in the literature, and the discussion below is intended to address them. Some of the issues are the result of recent studies, laws, or regulations, but some basic issues resurface from time to time. In 1957, a paper called "The state of fluoride in drinking water" was published, addressing many of these cyclical issues.<sup>3</sup> Since that time, more experimental work has been done and the knowledge base is larger, but the message is apparently being lost as many of the key outcomes have not changed. Key points may be grouped into the following categories: drinking water regulation, standards for drinking water additives, fluoridation advocacy/ requirement, available fluoridation additives, testing, and the definition of *complete* and *fast* reaction. An overview of these issues is helpful for any researcher undertaking study of fluorosilicates as there is a wealth of misinformation available.

#### 1. Drinking Water Regulations and Health

In the United States, federal agencies derive their respective authorities from acts of Congress and are restricted as well as empowered by those laws. Under the Safe Drinking Water Act (42 USC 300) and the amendments thereto, the EPA promulgates National Primary Drinking Water Regulations (NPDWRs) that set maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) which limit the concentration of individual species (or aggregates of species) in finished water supplied by public water systems (PWSs). On the basis of a report by the National Research Council,<sup>4</sup> the EPA has established an MCL of 4 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (= 212  $\mu$ M) for fluoride. In the United States bottled water falls under the jurisdiction of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and the Secretary of Health and Human Services is required to promulgate a similar rule for bottled water corresponding to every EPA drinking water regulation or to explain why no rule is needed (21 USC 349).

In 1955, Zipkin and McClure at the U.S. Public Health Service investigated several compounds for their ability to produce free fluoride available for uptake by tooth enamel, including sodium fluoride and sodium hexafluorosilicate, giving rats drinking water containing up to 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> (as fluoride) of each.<sup>5</sup> Their principal motivation was to find a cheaper additive than NaF for those water utilities that opted to fluoridate. This was not a toxicological test per se. In 1962, the National Institute of Dental Research of the U.S. Public Health Service assembled a compilation of available literature on the physiologic effects of fluoride in drinking water, including mottling and cariostasis.<sup>6</sup> Since then, toxicity and adverse health impacts have tested fluoride rather than fluorosilicates. As a recent example, in 2001, the FDA reported that Americans' exposure to fluoride had increased from dentifrices, and it demonstrated that any increases did not produce observable health effects in rats.<sup>7</sup> Fluoride salts were continually tested instead of fluorosilicates because the *complete* and *fast* dissociation-hydrolysis (eq 1) of fluorosilicates to fluoride and (hydr)oxosilicates was generally accepted as a chemical fact. Accordingly, no reason was apparent to test fluorosilicates separately. The completeness and speed of the dissociation-hydrolysis are at the heart of the issue and shall shortly be used to define the scope of this review.

$$H_2SiF_6(aq) + 4H_2O(l) \rightleftharpoons 6HF(aq) + Si(OH)_4(aq)$$
(1)

#### 2. Standards for Drinking Water Additives

No federal agency regulates drinking water additives as such. However, the National Sanitation Foundation administers a certification process.<sup>8,9</sup> To be certified, a drinking water additive must contribute less than 10% of the MCL to the finished water supply for any drinking water contaminant regulated by the EPA. The NSF standard always sets this maximum allowable level (MAL) for all additives at 10% of the MCL (post-dilution).<sup>10</sup> The use of NSF-certified or state-certified drinking water additives is mandated by state and/or local authorities in nearly all U.S. states or jurisdictions. Thus, these chemicals are subjected to rigorous standards. Nev-ertheless, even if drinking water additives were entirely unmonitored, utilities would still be required to meet the NPDWRs as described above for their finished drinking water supplies.

#### 3. Fluoridation Advocacy or Requirement

By law, the EPA is prohibited from recommending fluoride or similar additives for use in PWSs. The EPA may require the addition of a substance to a water supply only to address a deleterious contaminant in the water supply. Further discussion of health, policy, and practical concerns are beyond the scope of this work, but some general comments are instructive. Readers interested in the health and policy aspects are directed elsewhere.<sup>5,6,11,12</sup> Various documents produced by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention advocate the fluoridation of public water supplies as a public health measure against tooth decay.<sup>13</sup> Some states or lesser governmental authorities require fluoridation within their respective jurisdictions by legislation or administrative action.

#### 4. Available Fluoridation Additives

The most common fluoridating agents used by American waterworks are sodium fluoride (NaF), hexafluorosilicic acid ( $H_2SiF_6$ ), and sodium hexafluorosilicate ( $Na_2SiF_6$ ) as shown in Figure 1.<sup>14</sup> Although



**Figure 1.** Data for the United States from the CDC's 1992 *Fluoridation Census*: (a) Number of utilities using specific additives as reported by those that fluoridate their water; (b) Populations served by specific additives (millions of people) of those drinking supplementally fluoridated water (does not include waters with naturally occurring fluoride).

25% of the utilities reported using NaF, this corresponds to only 9.2% of the U.S. population drinking

fluoride-supplemented tap water. The ease in handling NaF rather than fluorosilicates accounts for the disproportionate use of NaF by utilities serving smaller populations. On the other hand, the cost savings in using fluorosilicates result in large systems using those additives instead. The reduced cost of large volume offsets the costs associated with handling concentrated stocks of the fluorosilicates, which require accommodations similar to hydrochloric acid, which is sometimes used to adjust pH. In acidic solution, the dissociation and hydrolysis of hexafluorosilicic acid, which occurs upon dilution, is given by eq 1. In drinking water, pH is adjusted with the addition of base (e.g., NaOH, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>); several deprotonations result in the formation of fluoride anion and a mixture of aqueous silicate anions. This also drives the reaction forward.

In the United States, the primary sources of fluoridating agents are rocky mineral deposits containing mixtures of fluorite and apatite; the fluoridating agent itself is produced as a byproduct of phosphate fertilizer manufacture.<sup>15</sup> Both Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub> and K<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub> occur naturally in volcanic ash as the minerals malladrite and hieratite, respectively.<sup>16–25</sup> Readers interested in the engineering and logistical aspects of fluoridation are referred to manuals by the  $CDC^{26.27}$  and the American Water Works Association.<sup>28</sup>

#### 5. Definition of Complete and Fast Reaction

This brings us to the next critical issue. For chemists, there are few reactions that are routinely described as complete, e.g.,  $HCl + NaOH \rightarrow NaCl +$ H<sub>2</sub>O. Instead, chemists use equilibrium constants to provide a quantitative measure of completeness. Unfortunately, this distinction is lost on the lay public. How far must a reaction go to be described as complete? Should it be >99.999%? Should it have an equilibrium constant larger than 10<sup>20</sup>? Such arguments are not academic if a residual reactant or reaction byproduct is claimed to exert a toxic effect at concentrations in the parts per trillion or lower. Should the *completeness* of reaction then be defined by a sliding scale based on the toxicology of trace residua since health is involved? To bridge the gap between the quantitative language of chemical equilibria and the qualitative language used to address the public, the chemist uses qualifiers, describing the reaction as "virtually complete" or "essentially complete". Alas, this inexactness leaves uncertainty which, in turn, may allow a potential problem to be overlooked or may be viewed as a weakness in the science by the outsider.

Not only is the equilibrium position of eq 1 important, but the speed with which that equilibrium is achieved is also important. What does *rapid* mean? Over in seconds? Minutes? Does it mean the reaction rate exceeds some set value? Does it mean that the rate constant exceeds some set value? Again, this is not a purely academic argument. What if it takes a certain time for a reactant that is claimed to exert a health effect to be "completely" destroyed? Should a sliding scale be used here? What should it be based on? Perhaps the rate of a reaction should be relative to the time water resides in the treatment plant or based on the time in the distribution system. Maybe the relative magnitude of the reaction rate should be gauged on how long it takes for a particular reactant to fall below a maximum concentration.

#### C. Scope

There are three sets of interrelated questions that suggest themselves based on the previous discussion, and the majority of this article will be geared toward answering them in alignment with the objectives set above. (1) What residual fluorosilicate species are present at equilibrium? What are the equilibrium constants and the species concentrations? How are the equilibria influenced by the physical and chemical conditions of the system? (2) What new species form during the dissociation and hydrolysis of hexafluorosilicate? What steps are involved in the process? What new species form owing to association/complexation of fluoride or residual fluorosilicates with other species in the water. What are their concentrations? What competition occurs between native and added constituents in a finished water supply? (3) What is the rate at which reaction 1 occurs? Are there quasi-stable intermediates of appreciable concentration? What are the mechanisms and rate laws associated with the processes that take place? What chemical and physical factors affect the rate of the reactions, and what are the magnitudes of such effects?

#### II. Studies of the Dissociation and Hydrolysis Equilibria

Hexafluorosilicic acid is a strong acid, similar to sulfuric acid (eq 2). However, the second deprotonation, shown in eq 3, is weak with an estimable acid dissociation constant.  $K_{a2} = 10^{-0.65}$  using data from Ciavatta,<sup>29</sup> but Sudakova et al.<sup>30</sup> report  $K_{a2} = 10^{-1.83}$ .

$$H_2SiF_6(aq) \stackrel{strong}{\longleftarrow} HSiF_6^{-}(aq) + H^+(aq)$$
 (2)

$$HSiF_{6}^{-}(aq) \xleftarrow{K_{a2} = 10^{-0.65}}{SiF_{6}^{2-}(aq) + H^{+}(aq)}$$
(3)

The hexafluorosilicate anion originates from either hexafluorosilicic acid or its sodium salt in potable water supplies. Upon dilution, the hexafluorosilicate anion dissociates, thereby releasing fluoride ion and producing soluble aquo-, hydroxo-, and oxosilicates. The speciation of aquo-, hydroxo-, and oxosilicates is quite complicated with a number of polymeric species being observed;<sup>31–34</sup> further discussion of those equilibria is beyond the scope of this review. The overall dissociation-hydrolysis process for hexafluorosilicate is shown in eq 4. At the near-to-neutral pHs characteristic of finished drinking water supplies, additional deprotonations can occur, and the net process is best represented by the consumption of base as in eq 5. The pH of a water supply may be adjusted by various means, such as the addition of sodium hydroxide to neutralize acid formed during chlorination, fluoridation, or other treatment steps.

$$SiF_{6}^{2-}(aq) + 4H_{2}O(l) \rightleftharpoons 4HF(aq) + 2F^{-}(aq) + Si(OH)_{4}(aq)$$
(4)

$$H_2SiF_6(aq) + 8OH^-(aq) \rightleftharpoons 6F^-(aq) + SiO_2(OH)_2^{2-}(aq) + 4H_2O(l)$$
 (5)

The processes represented by eqs 4 and 5 have been studied repeatedly using wet chemical, potentiometric, and spectroscopic methods over a period extending from 1921 to 1988.<sup>29,35-40</sup> However, only the hydrogen fluoride or silicon tetrafluoride molecules and the hexafluorosilicate, bifluoride, and fluoride anions have been definitively observed by <sup>19</sup>F NMR or Raman spectroscopy.<sup>41-48</sup> Åccordingly, all systems of multiple simultaneous equilibria reported in the literature are based on minimizing the error in fits of experimental (mainly potentiometric) data using practices well-established for the resolution of equilibrium constants. There is considerable debate over the presence of water molecules ligated to silicon(IV) centers. For this reason, the (ag) notation is deliberately retained in the chemical equations to remind the reader that there may be unidentified aquation taking place in intermediates or activated complexes. Virtually all of the research elucidating the partial dissociation and hydrolysis products can be placed into one of three equilibrium system categories. For convenience, these models shall be identified and the number of fluorine atoms present in the fluorosilicate species, so that 4,5,6 means one tetrafluoro-, one pentafluoro-, and one hexafluorosilicate species; 2,6 means one difluoro- and one hexafluorosilicate species; and 1,1,4,6 means two monofluoro-, one tetrafluoro-, and one hexafluorosilicate species.

#### A. Kleboth's 4,5,6 Model

In 1969, Kleboth studied the fluorosilicate system in 4 M perchloric acid at 25 °C and concluded that the principal species were  $\text{SiF}_6^{2-}(\text{aq})$ ,  $\text{SiF}_5^-(\text{aq})$ , and  $\text{SiF}_4(\text{aq})$ , even providing fractional distribution plots of the speciation.<sup>40,49</sup> Beginning in the 1970s, there was considerable interest in hexafluorosilicate dissociation and hydrolysis among Russian investigators. Among them, there appears to have been a general consensus<sup>50–52</sup> of the individual equilibria that occur (eqs 6a–d) but disagreement on the values for the equilibrium constants:

$$HSiF_6^{-} \rightleftharpoons SiF_6^{2-} + H^+$$
 (6a)

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-} + \operatorname{H}^{+} + \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{SiF}_{5}(\operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O})^{-} + \operatorname{HF} \quad (6b)$$

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{5}(\operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O})^{-} + \operatorname{H}^{+} + \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{SiF}_{4}(\operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O})_{2} + \operatorname{HF} \quad (6c)$$

$$SiF_4(H_2O)_2 + 2H_2O \rightleftharpoons Si(OH)_4 + 4HF$$
 (6d)

Borodin and Zao reported equilibrium constants of 0.025 for eq 6b, 0.004 for eq 6c, and  $6.8 \times 10^{-8}$  for eq 6d.<sup>51</sup> Plakhotnik and Kotlyar<sup>53</sup> reported values of 0.006 (0 °C) and 0.019 (25 °C) for the equilibrium constant of eq 6b; the value at 25 °C compares favorably with that of Borodin and Zao. Plakhotnik<sup>54</sup>

reported a value of 0.008 for eq 6d. Plakhotnik drew analogies between the Si<sup>IV</sup> and the Ge<sup>IV</sup> fluoride complexes, especially in postulating SiF<sub>5</sub>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sup>-.54</sup> It was also speculated that the formation of HSiF<sub>5</sub> might account for the solubility of SiO<sub>2</sub> in solutions of H<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>.<sup>55</sup> Hayek and Kleboth believed that the species SiF<sub>5</sub>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sup>-</sup> could be deprotonated to give SiF<sub>5</sub>(OH)<sup>2-.56</sup>

There is some spectroscopic and synthetic evidence to support this system of equations. The system has been studied by  $^{19}\text{F}$  NMR spectroscopy;  $^{50,57-59}$  conditions were quite forcing, with perchloric acid concentrations up to 12 *m* used on some occasions. Buslaev^{57} assigned peaks to SiF\_5(H\_2O)^-, SiF\_4(H\_2O)\_2, and a new species SiF\_3(OH)(H\_2O)\_2. The reaction was expressed in the rather unusual form of eq 7 when [Si<sup>IV</sup>]/[F<sup>-</sup>]  $\approx$  5:

$$20\text{SiO}_{2}(\text{aq}) + 102\text{HF} \approx 5.5\text{SiF}_{6}^{2^{-}} + \\12\text{SiF}_{5}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})^{-} + 1.3\text{SiF}_{4}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})_{2} + \\1.2\text{SiF}_{3}(\text{OH})(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})_{2}$$
(7)

Equation 7 is not balanced, except with respect to silicon(IV). The fluoride may be balanced by changing the HF coefficient on the left-hand side to 101.8, which suggests a simple rounding error or their desire not to use 4 significant digits, since the speciation is based on spectral data. It appears that the authors' intention was to exclude water and hydrogen ions. The addition of 21.8 water molecules to the right-hand side to balance the oxygen (oxide) counts still leaves a discrepancy in the hydrogen ion counts, with 23.2 additional hydrogen ions needed on the right-hand side. Since the authors did not measure acidity and water was the solvent, it is reasonable to assume that they intended to convey information only about the fluorosilicate speciation and purposely left the equation unbalanced.

Kleboth and Rode concluded that all the postulated species were stable by using ab initio calculations.<sup>60</sup> In the gas phase, the fluoride affinity of SiF<sub>4</sub> has been determined as a measure of its Lewis acidity, which falls between  $BrF_3$  and  $SeF_4$ ;<sup>61</sup> it does not appear that the fluoride affinity of  $SiF_5^-$  has been determined even though  $SiF_6^{2-}$  is stable. In addition, several pentafluorosilicate species have been synthesized, isolated, and/or characterized in the solid state.62-66 A significant number of stable pentacoordinate heteroleptic fluorosilicates exist;<sup>67–71</sup> therefore, it is not possible to summarily dismiss the reasonableness of silicon(IV) species with five (mixed) ligands. Some, such as  $[S(N(CH_3)_2)_3^+][Si(CH_3)_3F_2^-]$ , find use as polymerization catalysts,<sup>72</sup> while others, such as [HSi- $(OCH_2CH_3)_4^{-}]$ , are excellent one-electron reductants.<sup>73</sup> In [As(C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>4</sub>][SiF<sub>5</sub>] and [trans-PtCl(CO)- $(P(C_2H_5)_3)_2$ ][SiF<sub>5</sub>], the pentafluorosilicate ion is pentacoordinate without an aquo ligand.<sup>62,63</sup> However, a bridging oxo ligand completes the hexacoordinate geometry in  $[As(C_6H_5)_4^+]_2$   $[F_5SiOSiF_5^{2-}];^{62}$  consequently, it is unclear whether the presence of aquo ligands should be assumed to fix the coordination number at six in the aqueous phase. In the case of hydroxosilicates (silicic acids), the pentacoordinate species,  $Si(OH)_5^-$ , is predicted to be the most stable

in the gas phase, with Si(OH)<sub>4</sub> acting as a Lewis acid; this contrasts with aqueous-phase NMR studies that show Si(OH)<sub>4</sub> acts as a Brønsted-Lowry acid and is deprotonated to form SiO(OH)<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> because this species is stabilized by hydration.<sup>33</sup> (Gas-phase studies of many organosilanes have been reviewed elsewhere.<sup>74</sup>) Such a result may suggest that  $SiF_5^-$  is substantially aquated and may not exist except as the hexacoordinate species,  $SiF_5(H_2O)^-$ , or may be destabilized so that loss of a fluoride is promoted, yielding an aquated SiF<sub>4</sub> species. The existence of SiF<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup> has been verified by both NMR spectroscopic<sup>66</sup> and X-ray crystallographic studies.<sup>63,65</sup> There are also <sup>19</sup>F NMR and IR spectroscopic data to show that tertiary organic ammonium salts of SiF5<sup>-</sup> exist.<sup>75-78</sup> Accordingly, despite theoretical objections,<sup>79,80</sup> there would appear to be little doubt that the pentafluorosilicate anion exists. To what extent it occurs in aqueous solution-where the addition of an aquo ligand is possible-is another matter entirely, of course. The chemistry of fluorides of penta- and hexacoordinate silicon(IV) has been reviewed previously.<sup>81–83</sup>

The tetrafluoro species represented simply as SiF<sub>4</sub>-(aq) is not merely dissolved silicon tetrafluoride (tetrafluorosilane) gas but an aquated species-or possibly multiple aquated species with four fluoride ligands each.<sup>49,84</sup> Kleboth called it both *tetrafluoro*silicic acid and silicon tetrafluoride dihydrate, referring to it as an adduct, SiF<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O.<sup>49</sup> Such a species is probably best named as diaquotetrafluorosilicon-(IV) more akin to a hydrated metal complex, and it has been observed by infrared spectroscopy in the solid phase.<sup>85</sup> Hayek and Kleboth also believed that  $SiF_4 \cdot 2H_2O$  could be doubly deprotonated to give what is essentially an adduct composed of one silicon tetrafluoride molecule and two hydroxide anions.<sup>56</sup> A number of oxygen or nitrogen Lewis bases form 1:1 and/or 2:1 complexes with SiF<sub>4</sub>, including ammonia (SiF<sub>4</sub>·NH<sub>3</sub>; SiF<sub>4</sub>·2NH<sub>3</sub>), benzimidazoles (SiF<sub>4</sub>·2N-Bz), water (SiF<sub>4</sub>·H<sub>2</sub>O), methanol [SiF<sub>4</sub>·CH<sub>3</sub>OH], and methyl ether  $[SiF_4 \cdot (CH_3)_2 O]$  as well as  $[SiF_3 (OCH_3)]$ , which forms upon reaction with methanol and loss of HF.<sup>85–90</sup> Just how stable  $SiF_4(H_2O)_2$  should be is debatable, and assertions of its omnipresence in aqueous solutions of hexafluorosilicate salts has been challenged using cryoscopy (molal freezing point depression).<sup>91</sup> The infrared spectrum of SiF<sub>4</sub> gas is reported in the literature;<sup>48</sup> therefore, comparison of gas- and aqueous-phase spectra may provide some information about the nature of aquation.

While the presence of the two water molecules may have little significance from the standpoint of an equilibrium expression, aquation in the ligand sphere may influence the rate of the subsequent steps of the substitution/hydrolysis for several reasons. (1) The symmetry is markedly different. Tetrafluorosilane **1** is  $T_{d}$ . Presumably, SiF<sub>4</sub>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sub>2</sub> is  $D_{4h}$  with the water molecules in a trans orientation **2**, but  $C_{2v}$  with a cis orientation is also possible **3**. (2) The Si-F bond lengths are probably different (longer). (3) The sterics suggest (probably require) that hexafluorosilicate decomposition begin with a dissociative rather than associative step because the coordination number of the silicon center is at its maximum. Concerted or consecutive loss of  $H^+$  and  $F^-$  (or vice versa) from 2 or 3 begins to form the Si–OH moieties of the silicic acid product. (4) The water molecules can undergo facile  $H^+$  loss or gain, thus affording a mode for rapid changes in net charge as well as ligand composition, which in turn affects the ability to serve as leaving groups.



#### B. Busey's 2,6 and 2,4 Models

In 1980, the hexafluorosilicate system was studied potentiometrically by Busey et al. in NaCl solution.<sup>36</sup> They concluded that the process was represented by the following equilibria in aqueous solution (eqs 8a–c). Note that eqs 8b-1 and 8b-2 are intended to represent speciation fits of temperature-dependent experimental data and are not suggested to occur simultaneously.

$$SiF_6^{2-} + 4H_2O \xrightarrow{K=10^{-29.98}} Si(OH)_4 + 6F^- + 4H^+ at 25 °C (8a)$$

$$\text{SiF}_{6}^{2-} + 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \xrightarrow{K=10^{-18.89}} \text{Si}(\text{OH})_{2}\text{F}_{2} + 4\text{F}^{-} + 2\text{H}^{+} \text{ at } 25 \ ^{\circ}\text{C} \ (8\text{b-1})$$

$$SiF_6^{2-} + H_2O \xrightarrow{K=10^{-10.20}} Si(OH)F_4^{-} + 2F^{-} + H^+ at \ 0 \ ^{\circ}C \ (8b-2)$$

A different model was employed at 0 °C than at 25 °C because the data fit the alternative model better. In the low-temperature model, they replaced eq 8b-1 with eq 8b-2; the value of the equilibrium constant for eq 8a then became  $10^{-31.61}$ . While statistically valid, this is rather unsatisfying from a physical inorganic chemistry standpoint as no chemical rationale was offered other than goodness of fit. It also offers no information about intermediate temperatures that are relevant to potable water systems because their piping is exposed to seasonal and meteorological temperature influences. Golovnev studied the effect of ionic strength on the HF acid dissociation constant and the equilibrium constant for eq 8a (Table 1) and confirmed the values found by Busey et al.<sup>92</sup> That a pentafluorosilicate species was not included is somewhat

Table 1. Effect of Ionic Strength on the Equilibrium Constants for HF Dissociation and SiF<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup> Dissociation-Hydrolysis (from Golovnev<sup>92</sup>)

$\mu$ , M (as NaCl)	HF pKa	p <i>K</i> for eq 7a
0	3.16	30.02
0.1	2.97	29.48
0.2	2.93	29.43
0.4	2.92	29.50
0.6	2.91	
0.8	2.92	29.70
1.0	2.94	29.94
2.0	3.02	30.88
3.0	3.28	32.33

surprising given the spectroscopic and solid structure (of synthesized compounds) evidence for both the solvated and the unsolvated  $SiF_5^-$  ion. In addition, the absence of a tetrafluorosilicon(IV) species appears to be inconsistent with the fact that tetrafluorosilane gas exists and would presumably be hydrated if dissolved into an aqueous solution. While a number of nitrogen or oxygen Lewis base adducts of  $SiF_4$  are known (vide supra), it is still unknown whether  $SiF_4$  (or some adduct) would be stable in excess water.

#### C. Ciavatta's 1,1,4,6 Model

In 1988, Ciavatta et al. studied the reaction potentiometrically.<sup>29</sup> They fitted their data to the following set of reactions, all aqueous species:

HSiF<sub>6</sub><sup>-</sup> 
$$\frac{K_{a2} = 10^{-0.65}}{5}$$
  
SiF<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup> + H<sup>+</sup> (9a)

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-} + 2\operatorname{H}^{+} \underbrace{\overset{K=10^{-3.88}}{\longleftarrow}}_{\operatorname{SiF}_{4}} + 2\operatorname{HF} (9b)$$

$$\operatorname{SiF_6}^{2^-} + 3\mathrm{H}^+ + 2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \xrightarrow{K = 10^{-11.57}}$$
  
Si(OH)<sub>2</sub>F<sup>+</sup> + 5HF (9c)

$$SiF_6^{2-} + 2H^+ + 3H_2O \xleftarrow{K=10^{-10.83}}{Si(OH)_3F + 5HF}$$
 (9d)

$$SiF_6^{2-} + 2H^+ + 4H_2O \xrightarrow{K = 10^{-13.23}} Si(OH)_4 + 6HF$$
 (9e)

Although they mentioned previous work that was not in agreement, they did not try to rationalize their choices for species except on the basis of the fit to the potentiometric data. This particular system of simultaneous equilibria is the only one that includes a cationic silicon(IV) species,  $Si(OH)_2F^+$ . Presumably, the species is hydrated with three aquo ligands, but the authors did not address that matter. Like Kleboth's system, this one includes a tetrafluorosilicon-(IV) species. The solvation sphere is unspecified but probably should include two aquo ligands. Like Busey's system, this one excludes a pentafluorosilicate species, which again seems to be inconsistent with the several reports documenting the existence of this anion.

#### D. Other Equilibrium Studies

Roberson and Barnes suggested that an additional weak fluorosilicon(IV) complex besides  $SiF_6^{2-}$  was present.<sup>80</sup> They speculated it might be  $Si(OH)_3F$  or  $Si(OH)_4F^-$  but felt that the data could not be used to unequivocally establish its presence. Initially, they assumed that a consecutive, cumulative series of fluoro complexes existed, but eventually were forced to reject that hypothesis based on the data they obtained. When the average ligand number  $\bar{n}$  (molar ratio of silicon-bound fluoride to total silicon) ranged

from 0.2 to 6, it was concluded that  $SiF_6^{2-}$  was the major species. However, they studied the reaction only near pH 4. They did fix the ionic strength to 0.1 M with NaNO<sub>3</sub>, NaCl, or NaClO<sub>4</sub>, unlike many other works where ionic strength was permitted to fluctuate under the influence of the reactants and products. Their total silicon(IV) concentrations ranged from 2.5 to 5.0 mM ( $10-20\times$  a reasonable drinking water concentration of 0.3 mM). Their concentrations of total fluoride (0.10-40 mM) were some  $2-800\times$ drinking water concentrations (53  $\mu$ M for 1 ppm); consequently, the statement regarding speciation as a function of  $\bar{n}$  is not necessarily valid because the higher concentrations of both fluoride and silicon(IV) would force the product distribution away from hydroxo complexes in favor of fluoro complexes.

The reaction was also studied by Crosby.<sup>37</sup> Crosby's principal concern was whether a sufficient level of fluoride was maintained. Once he was convinced that more than 95% of the hexafluorosilicate had been converted to fluoride, he did not pursue refinements to determine the residual hexafluorosilicate because 0.95 ppm of fluoride is close enough to 1 ppm of fluoride in terms of ensuring the presence of free fluoride. In fact, Crosby begins his paper by discussing several fluoridated compounds and whether they will release fluoride in the mouth. The equilibrium was similarly studied by Cooke and Minski, who also geared their experiments toward showing that a sufficient quantity of fluoride was released into the solution.93 They calculated an equilibrium constant for the formation of aqueous silicon tetrafluoride (eq 9b) and found that it varied as a function of the initial concentration of Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>. This result was inconsistent with previous studies, which showed only scatter (as they pointed out). Such variation-if in fact correct-is probably due to unaccounted for subsequent or simultaneous equilibria.

The dissociation and hydrolysis of magnesium hexafluorosilicate was also studied.<sup>94</sup> The investigation used a buffer based on 5 mM sodium 5.5diethylbarbiturate and followed the fluoride generation with an ion-specific electrode upon the addition of 0.50 or 0.10 mM MgSiF<sub>6</sub>. The initial pH (before addition of the MgSiF<sub>6</sub> solid) was adjusted to 7.4, the buffer's p $K_a$ . The authors reported only 60% release of the fluoride. The validity of this result may be challenged for two reasons. First, it is not clear if the buffer capacity is sufficient for this amount of acid. Each hexafluorosilicate ion generates four hydrofluoric acid molecules. For the hydrolysis of the lower concentration of  $SiF_6^{2-}$  (0.10 mM), the resulting concentration of HF was 8.0% of the total buffer concentration (and 16% of the basic form, which was immediately protonated); therefore, the hydrolysis reaction shifted the pH (the authors did not monitor the pH). Second, in addition to the  $Mg^{2+}$  in the salt, the buffer also contained 0.5 mM  $Mg^{2+}$  and 0.15 mM  $Ca^{2+}$ . Both of these metal cations form fluoride complexes, thus reducing the free fluoride concentration. It is not clear if they would also have interfered with the chemosensor (i.e., electrode surface). Third, a small portion of the silicic acid formed by the reaction would also contribute acidity, further lowering the pH. This explanation (especially the increase in acidity) appears to be supported by the experimental data, which showed reduced relative fluoride production (i.e., lower fractional dissociation) at the higher initial concentration of  $MgSiF_{6}$ .

#### III. Fractional Speciation

#### A. Fractional Distributions under Drinking Water Conditions

The only matter generally agreed upon among those who have studied fluorosilicate formation or dissociation is that there is no series of species resulting from consecutive, cumulative substitutions of hydroxide for fluoride.<sup>29,36,80,95</sup> In other words, there is no consecutive series of complexes of the form  $[SiF_m(OH)_n]^{4-m-n}$  with  $m+n \le 6$  and their associated protonations and deprotonations. As noted above, only the hexafluorosilicate anion itself has been indisputably identified in aqueous solution. As a consequence, the equilibrium is generally represented in terms of a net process where the hexafluorosilicate molecule is totally decomposed to a silicic acid molecule, four hydrogen cations, and six fluoride anions. For example, Gmelin<sup>95</sup> tabulates values for the constant represented by eq 10. The values range from a minimum of  $10^{28.23}$  to a maximum of  $10^{31.61}$ ; some of these values have been summarized in Table 2. However, relying on equilibrium constants for eqs

Table 2. Values of the Equilibrium Constant for eq 10 at 25  $^\circ C$  as Tabulated by Gmelin $^{95}$ 

log K	$\mu^a$	ref	log K	$\mu^a$	ref
30.02	0	38,92	29.94	1.0	38,92
30.35	0	137	30.88	2.0	38,92
30.18	0.10	80	32.33	3.0	38,92
31.08	0.20	138	30.8	unspec	$36^b$
29.50	0.40	38,92	29	unspec	36 <sup>c</sup>
29.98	1.0	36		-	

 $^a$  The symbol  $\mu$  represents ionic strength; unspec = unspecified.  $^b$  Busey et al.  $^{36}$  calculated this value from data given by Crosby.  $^{37}$   $^c$  Busey et al.  $^{36}$  calculated this value from data given by Kubelka and Přistoupil.  $^{35}$ 

6b–d from Borodin and Zao<sup>51,58</sup> and p $K_a$  from Mesmer and Baes,<sup>96</sup> we arrive at a value of 9.1 × 10<sup>16</sup>, which is still large but substantially different from the other values reported in the literature.

$$K = \frac{[\text{SiF}_{6}^{2^{-}}]}{[\text{Si}(\text{OH})_{4}][\text{H}^{+}]^{4}[\text{F}^{-}]^{6}}$$
(10)

When hexafluorosilicate anion dissociates, releasing fluoride ion, there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the silicon(IV) center maintains a coordination number of six, but it has generally been presumed to do so, with water molecules displacing the fluoride. Regardless of model, the equilibrium constants resolved for this system are all macroscopic in nature. In other words, they are based on species with the general compositions given in the individual reactions, but without regard to structure and bonding. Because fluoride forms strong hydrogen bonds, some researchers have postulated that hydrogenbonded species such as  $F \cdots H - F - SiF_4(H_2O)^-$  may exist in addition to or instead of  $H - F - SiF_5^-$ . Therefore, the elucidation of residual species is further complicated from an isomeric standpoint. Such concerns may seem rather academic, but toxicological and pharmacological properties are normally influenced by structure in addition to composition. Accordingly, it is possible for structural isomers to vary in physiologic activity so that the species which dominates the biology is not the one whose concentrations dominates in solution. Despite these general truths, it is not clear whether the toxicological and pharmacological properties of these specific species are affected by isomerism.

In addition to the fluorosilicate equilibria, there are a number of equilibria involving fluoride with other species. Two equilibria that can be found in any aqueous system containing fluoride are the formation of hydrofluoric acid and bifluoride anion, shown in eqs 11a,b.<sup>96</sup> Slightly different values for these constants may be found elsewhere.<sup>97</sup> (Gas-phase data also exist on the stability of hydrogen bonded fluorospecies.<sup>98</sup>) In addition, silicic acid has two dissociations, given in eqs 12a,b, which must be included.<sup>99</sup>

$$F^{-} + H^{+} \xrightarrow{K = 10^{2.887}} HF$$
 (11a)

$$2\mathrm{F}^{-} + \mathrm{H}^{+} \stackrel{K=10^{3.87}}{\longleftrightarrow} \mathrm{HF}_{2}^{-} \qquad (11\mathrm{b})$$

$$Si(OH)_4 \xrightarrow{K = 10^{-9.83}} SiO(OH)_3^- + H^+$$
 (12a)

$$Si(OH)_4 \xrightarrow{K = 10^{-23.0}} SiO_2(OH)_2^{2^-} + 2H^+$$
 (12b)

The hexafluorosilicate anion is stable only in a narrow pH range. As Katorina et al. reported, "In strongly acidic solutions, the stability of the [hexa]fluorosilicate ion is lowered, and it is completely decomposed in 0.025 M or 0.050 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> at concentrations of 0.15 mM or 0.2 mM Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>".<sup>100</sup> In an interesting twist, hexafluorosilicate is destroyed in concentrated, strong acid due to the formation of the weak acid HF and in base due to the formation of silicic acid and eventually oxosilicates. This point was observed by Golovnev, who noted the apparent discrepancies in the literature and calculated that the hexafluorosilicate anion is most stable around pH 2.6.<sup>38</sup> In concentrated solutions (e.g., stock commercial solutions may contain 20% w/w), dimerization occurs. The dimer can then lose two HF molecules.<sup>101</sup>

$$2H_2SiF_6 \rightleftharpoons (H_2SiF_6)_2 \rightleftharpoons H_2Si_2F_{10} + 2HF \quad (13)$$

It is sometimes suggested that the dimer  $(H_2SiF_6)_2$ actually exists as a hydrogen-bonded form with at least one but possibly two bridging fluoride ligands, perhaps something like  $(FHF)(HF)F_2Si(\mu-F)_2SiF_2$ -(FH)(FHF). There are also so-called "high silica fluosilicic acids" that are believed to contain a species called fluodisilicic acid, often represented as  $[SiF_6\cdot SiF_4]^{2-}$ , <sup>56,102,103</sup> but that is probably better represented as  $[SiF_4(\mu-F)_2SiF_4]^{2-}$ . It should be noted that the empirical formula of the parent acid is HSiF<sub>5</sub>, which was previously proposed upon the dissolution of SiO<sub>2</sub> in hexafluorosilicic acid<sup>55</sup> and whose deprotonated anion was proposed as an intermediate in the dissociation-hydrolysis of hexafluorosilicic acid (vide supra). Harris and Rudner disputed that polymerization occurs, as opposed to formation of HSiF<sub>5</sub>;<sup>77</sup> however, they also felt that Si<sub>2</sub>F<sub>11</sub><sup>3-</sup> and Si<sub>3</sub>F<sub>16</sub><sup>3-</sup> could form in the presence of tertiary ammonium cations.<sup>78</sup> The existence of bridging fluoride ligands has been strongly debated, and different interpretations of the spectroscopic evidence have been put forth.<sup>78,104</sup> Ennan et al. felt that the infrared and <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectra supported the existence of only SiF<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup> and SiF<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup> in solution.<sup>104</sup>

There is some speculation offered by Roberson and Barnes,<sup>80</sup> but the reference to varying bond strengths of Si-F and Si-O bonds in minerals is unsatisfying. Regardless of the reasons for the instability of stepby-step replacement of fluoro ligands for hydroxo ligands, it is a stark contrast to metal-ligand complexes where consecutive additions or substitutions of a ligand are commonplace. Unfortunately, there is not agreement on what species actually exist, especially the heteroleptic species. Therefore, the only option is to compare and contrast the speciation predicted for an individual model, given the current state of the science. The more recent studies by Busey et al.<sup>36</sup> and Ciavatta et al.<sup>29</sup> were used for this purpose. The total fluoride concentration was set at  $[F^{-}]_{T} = 19 \,\mu M$  (1 mg L<sup>-1</sup>), which represents a typical level as the EPA's secondary MCL is twice that. Soluble silicates are present in natural waters and are dissolved from the surrounding minerals as the water passes over them. In fact, some of these very same waters naturally contain fluoride.<sup>80</sup> Regardless of the source of silicon(IV), i.e., anthropogenic or native, the addition of any fluoridating agent results in similar speciation because the dissolved silica concentration is essentially unchanged by the addition of the agent (but usually all the fluoride comes from the agent). In other words, the dissolved silica contribution of the fluoridating agent is trivial compared to the native silica. Silicate concentrations can vary widely as they are strongly influenced by the minerals to which the water is exposed as well as temperature. However, a typical total silicate concentration was selected for these calculations:  $[Si^{IV}]_T$ = 300  $\mu$ M (18 mg L<sup>-1</sup> as SiO<sub>2</sub>); this is about 95× the  $[Si^{\rm IV}]$  present from the hexafluorosilicate additive itself, so that the hexafluorosilicate contribution to  $[Si^{IV}]_{T}$  is negligible.

Fractional distribution plots were constructed for both Busey's 2,6 and Ciavatta's 1,1,4,6 fluorosilicate speciation models using a specialty software package, MINEQL+ version 4.0 (Environmental Research Software, Hallowell, ME). These plots illustrate the speciation of the silicon(IV) as a function of pH. No corrections or adjustments for ionic strength or temperature were made, and so these figures are approximations. Dimeric or other polymeric species were likewise excluded, given the dilute nature of the drinking water system, but the equilibria shown in eqs 11 and 12 were included. As is readily apparent from examination of Figures 2 and 3, which are based



**Figure 2.** Fractional distribution plot is shown for fluoride species as a function of pH based on Busey's 2,6 model at 25 °C;  $[Si^{IV}]_T = 300 \ \mu M \ (18 \ mg \ L^{-1} \ as \ SiO_2)$  and  $[F^-]_T = 19 \ \mu M \ (1 \ mg \ L^{-1})$ .



**Figure 3.** Fractional distribution plot is shown for fluoride species as a function of pH based on Ciavatta's 1,1,4,6 model;  $[Si^{IV}]_T = 300 \ \mu M \ (18 \ mg \ L^{-1} \ as \ SiO_2) \ and \ [F^-]_T = 19 \ \mu M \ (1 \ mg \ L^{-1}).$ 

on the Busey<sup>36</sup> and Ciavatta<sup>29</sup> models, respectively, the concentrations of any fluorosilicate species are extremely small at drinking water pH. This reaffirms the statement made by Feldman et al. in 1955 (when they presented the work):<sup>3</sup> The equilibria needed for the calculation of fractional speciation are summarized in Tables 3–5.

It is concluded that in any drinking water supply with a pH of 5 or higher, fluoridated with sodium silicofluoride [hexafluorosilicate] to the extent of 16 ppm of F or less, all of the silicofluoride is completely hydrolyzed to silicic acid, fluoride ion, and hydrogen

Table 3. Systems of Simultaneous Equilibria (and their Constants) Proposed for the Hexafluorosilicate Dissociation–Hydrolysis Reaction in Aqueous Solution

reaction	log K	ref
Scheme 1 (Kleboth	n's 4,5,6 Model)	
$HSiF_6^- \rightleftharpoons SiF_6^{2-} + H^+$	unreported	40,49
$SiF_6^{2-} + H^+ + H_2O \Rightarrow$	-1.60	51
$\mathrm{SiF_5(H_2O)^-} + \mathrm{HF}$		
	-1.72	53
$SiF_5(H_2O)^- + H^+ + H_2O \rightleftharpoons$	-2.4	51
$\mathrm{SiF_4(H_2O)_2} + \mathrm{HF}$		
$SiF_4(H_2O)_2 + 2H_2O \Rightarrow$	-7.17	51
$Si(OH)_4 + 4HF$		
	-2.1	54
Scheme 2a (Busev's 2	2.6 Model @ 25 °C)	
$SiF_{6}^{2-} + 4H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons$	-29.98	36
$Si(OH)_4 + 6F^- + 4H^+$		
$SiF_6^{2-} + 2H_2O \Rightarrow$	-18.89	
$\mathrm{Si}(\mathrm{OH})_2\mathrm{F}_2 + 4\mathrm{F}^- + 2\mathrm{H}^+$		
Schome 2h (Busey's	A 6 Model @ 0 °C)	
$SiE_0^{2-} + 4H_0O \rightleftharpoons$	-31.61	36
$Si(OH)_4 + 6F^- + 4H^+$	51.01	50
$SiFe^{2-} + H_2O \Rightarrow$	-10.20	
$Si(OH)F_{4} + 2F^{-} + H^{+}$	10.20	
Scheme 3 (Clavatta	s 1,1,4,6 Model)	00
$HSIF_6 = SIF_6^2 + H^2$	-0.65	29
$\operatorname{SIF}_{6^{2}} + 2\operatorname{H}^{+} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{SIF}_{4} + 2\operatorname{HF}_{4^{+}}$	-3.88	
$SIF_6^* + 3H^+ + 2H_2U \rightleftharpoons$	-11.57	
$SI(U\Pi)_2\Gamma^+ + 3\Pi\Gamma$ S: $\Gamma^2 - \pm 9U^+ \pm 9U^- \rightarrow$	_10.92	
$Sir_6^- + 2\Pi^+ + 5\Pi_2 O \leftarrow$ Si(OH) F + 5HF	-10.03	
$Si(OII)_{3I} + 5\Pi F$ $SiE_{a}^{2-} + 9H^{+} + 4H_{a}O \Longrightarrow$	-13.93	
$Si_{6}$ + $2i_{1}$ + $4n_{2}0$ Si(OH), + 6HF	10.20	
$O(01)_4 + O(1)_2$		

Table 4. Equilibrium Constants for Formation ofHydrogen Fluoride and Bifluoride in AqueousSolution

	log K		
reaction	value from ref 96 value from		
$\overline{F^{-} + H^{+} \rightleftharpoons HF}$ $2F^{-} + H^{+} \rightleftharpoons HF_{2}^{-}$	2.887 3.87	2.94 3.56	

Table 5. Cumulative Dissociation Constants for Silicic Acid from Nordstrom et al.<sup>99</sup>

reaction	log K
$\begin{array}{l} \text{Si(OH)}_4 \rightleftharpoons \text{SiO(OH)}_3^- + \text{H}^+ \\ \text{Si(OH)}_4 \rightleftharpoons \text{SiO}_2(\text{OH})_2^{2-} + 2\text{H}^+ \end{array}$	$-9.83 \\ -23.0$

fluoride. There can be no question of toxicity of  $SiF_4$  or  $SiF_6^{2-}$  under such conditions.

# B. Influences of Metal Cations on Fluoride Speciation

Natural waters contain a number of metallic cations that can be ligated by fluoride. Fluoride binds to trivalent metal cations, such as iron(III) and aluminum, as well as divalent metal cations, such as calcium and magnesium.<sup>105</sup> This point was not lost on Feldman et al. back in 1955.<sup>3</sup> They considered 29 different metal cations that might influence fluoride concentrations, either through complexation or precipitation. In 1985, Pitter expressed concern that the formation of fluoro complexes of Al<sup>3+</sup> was lowering the free fluoride concentration below the optimal levels for dental health benefits.<sup>106</sup> Much of the fluoride is in fact present as metal complexes, de-

pending on the concentrations of the metal cations, the fluoride anion, and the hydrogen ion. The stability constants for these complexes have been tabulated previously, and the effects of the metal cations fractional distribution plots have been taken into account so they will not be repeated here.<sup>2</sup> The pH determines the degree of hydrolysis (hydroxo-complexation) of the metal cations, thereby indirectly affecting the concentration of free fluoride ion owing to competition between the hydroxide and the fluoride for the metal cations. In general, constants have not been reported for heteroleptic fluorohydroxo metal complexes, and such species are largely unstudied. In a few cases, such as aluminum(III), significant inroads have been made on mixed fluorohydroxo complexes.<sup>107–111</sup>

Formation of complexes also influences the solubilities of fluoride-bearing minerals in hydrogeologic settings.<sup>112,113</sup> The difficulties associated with the synthesis of hexafluorosilicates of  $Al^{3+}$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$ ,  $Zr^{4+}$ , and  $UO_2^{2+}$  led to the conclusion that hexafluorosilicate is decomposed by cations that form strong fluoro complexes.<sup>114</sup> When dissolved in water,  $CaSiF_6$  dissociates to  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $SiF_6^{2-}$  but the hexafluorosilicate is hydrolyzed upon dilution of the solution, giving silicic acid, hydrofluoric acid, and a precipitate of calcium fluoride.<sup>91</sup> Later work contradicted the data on  $UO_2^{2+}$  and also showed that  $NpO_2^{2+}$  and  $PuO_2^{2+}$  complexes with hexafluorosilicate could be formed in aqueous solution; the stability constants range from 25 to 252, depending on the actinide and conditions.<sup>114</sup>

Not only does the formation of fluoro complexes reduce the concentration of free fluoride and fluorosilicates, but it can have practical consequences for other treatment processes. If fluoride is injected before or during alum coagulation, fluoridation can impair the process, which relies on hydroxo complexation and flocculation of insoluble hydroxides. 115,116 This is readily apparent when examining the impact of fluoride on the turbidity of an Ohio River water sample undergoing coagulation.<sup>115</sup> Figure 4 shows how the effectiveness of alum coagulation is reduced by the addition of fluoride. The turbidity of the water rises sharply every time a dose of fluoride is added. In addition, the turbidity never drops to the level of the control stream. to which no fluoride was added. Consequently, the addition of fluoride to the water stream prior to coagulation is contraindicated since it increases the alum dose required to achieve the same level of turbidity reduction as shown by Figure 5. In many treatment plants it is not uncommon for fluoride to be added early on. Such practices result in costlier operation due to increased coagulant consumption and may result in higher concentrations of the metal cation  $(Fe^{3+} \text{ or } Al^{3+})$  in some finished water supplies than if the fluoride were added postcoagulation. The observations suggest that there is considerable competition between the fluoride and the hydroxide for the aluminum and possibly heteroleptic complexation or fluoride occlusion.

One of the issues sometimes raised with regard to the use of sodium hexafluorosilicate and hexafluorosilicic acid as fluoridating agents—as opposed to sodium fluoride—is whether residual hexafluorosili-



**Figure 4.** Fluoride addition lowers the effectiveness of coagulation with alum, KAl(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>·12H<sub>2</sub>O: (•) Turbidity of the control, operated with 63  $\mu$ M alum; ( $\bigcirc$ ) How the addition of fluoride reduces the effectiveness of alum at lowering turbidity. Time points represent postmixing concentrations after injections of fluoride and/or alum: (a)  $[F^-]_T = 38 \ \mu$ M,  $[Al^{III}]_T = 63 \ \mu$ M; (b)  $[F^-]_T = 38 \ \mu$ M,  $[Al^{III}]_T = 46 \ \mu$ M; (c)  $[F^-]_T = 38 \ \mu$ M,  $[Al^{III}]_T = 63 \ \mu$ M; (d)  $[F^-]_T = 76 \ \mu$ M,  $[Al^{III}]_T = 63 \ \mu$ M; (e)  $[F^-]_T = 0 \ \mu$ M,  $[Al^{III}]_T = 63 \ \mu$ M. Conversions: for fluoride, 19  $\mu$ M = 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, FW = 19 g mol<sup>-1</sup>; for alum, 63  $\mu$ M = 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, FW = 474 g mol<sup>-1</sup>. Data have been adapted from Feld et al.<sup>115</sup>



**Figure 5.** Efficiency of alum coagulation is reduced by fluoride. Almost twice as much alum is required to achieve the same reduction in turbidity in the presence of fluoride  $([F^-]_T = 19 \ \mu M = 1 \ \text{mg } L^{-1})$  at alum concentrations up to 30 mg  $L^{-1}$  (63  $\mu$ M). Data have been adapted from Feld et al.<sup>115</sup>

cate anion can form ingestible complexes with metal cations.<sup>117</sup> This matter has previously been considered in some detail,<sup>2</sup> but there are three key points worth noting here. First, the only available data on hexafluorosilicate complexes or ion pairs suggests that they are very weak and can only form in concentrated solution.<sup>118</sup> In fact, the complexes are entirely outer sphere; the evidence suggests there is no linkage at the molecular scale, only an ion pair. Second, hexafluorosilicates of several metals (Na<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, Pb<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup>) have been synthesized and purified.<sup>119</sup> Other than Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>, the others all formed with waters of hydration. In the hexafluorosilicate salts, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Zn<sup>2+</sup> precipitated as hexaaquo ions while Pb<sup>2+</sup> and Cu<sup>2+</sup> precipitated as tetraaquo ions.

The aquo ligands completely fill the coordination spheres of the metal cations, showing that in the solid there is only a simple electrostatic interaction holding the two ions together as a salt and not an innersphere link (such as a bridging fluoro ligand). It has also been noted that  $SiF_6^{2-}$  forms only outer-sphere complexes, even with polarizable species such as  $Ag^{+,120}$  Even in the solid phase, anhydrous  $K_2SiF_6$ shows only an ionic bond (no dative bonds, only electrostatic interactions). In fact, the symmetry about the central silicon is  $O_h$ , unlike the  $GeF_6^{2-}$  or  $SnF_6^{2-}$  compounds where it becomes  $D_{3d}$ .<sup>121</sup> Third, the fact that these compounds may be synthesized (especially  $[Pb(H_2O)_4][SiF_6]$  means that they could be directly dissolved into water to test for the existence of association complexes. Interestingly, tetraaquolead(II) hexafluorosilicate decomposes in moist air, producing PbF<sub>2</sub> among other things.<sup>119</sup>

## **IV. Kinetics**

A 1958 review says the reaction (eq 4) is slow in cold basic solution.<sup>122</sup> Another reports the reaction "produc[es] fluoride ions very slowly".<sup>123</sup> Nevertheless, most of the equilibrium studies and the modest kinetic studies suggest it is actually rather facile. It largely appears to depend on what rate or rate constant is described as *slow*.

The net dissociation-hydrolysis (eq 4) has been reported to be first order and unaffected by base,<sup>124</sup> with the very first dissociation of a fluoride ion proposed as the rate-limiting step (eq 14), which results in a differential rate expression reminiscent of an  $S_N1$  reaction, which is how this system can be viewed if addition of a hydroxide or water molecule follows the loss of the fluoride (eq 15). It is worth mentioning that the  $S_N1$  reactions encountered in organic chemistry usually are viewed as having a rapid equilibrium that forms the reactive species (e.g., a *tert*-butyl chloride molecule dissociating to form a *tert*-butyl carbocation and a chloride anion).

$$\operatorname{SiF_6}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq}) \xrightarrow{k_1} \operatorname{SiF_5}^{-}(\operatorname{aq}) + \operatorname{F}^{-}(\operatorname{aq})$$
 (14)

$$-d[\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq})]/dt = k_{1}[\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq})] \qquad (15)$$

It is unclear whether there is a water molecule datively bound to the pentafluorosilicate anion on the right-hand side of eq 14. It is difficult to imagine eq 14 is irreversible as written, as opposed to a rapid equilibrium (eq 16a) or a fast reversible reaction (eq 16b). In either case, the resulting differential rate expressions are potentially consistent with the literature data due to the design of the kinetics experiments conducted. If eq 17 is taken to be the subsequent step in the mechanism, the differential rate expressions that follow from eqs 16a and 16b are eqs 19a and 19b, respectively (a steady state in the concentration of  $SiF_5^-$  is assumed for eq 19b, i.e.,  $d[SiF_5^-]_{ss}/dt \approx 0)$ . In all the reported studies, the initial fluoride concentration was zero; therefore, the rate inhibition predicted with increasing fluoride concentration by either eq 19a or 19b would not and could not have been observed. Note that eqs 16a and 16b represent distinct pathways and cannot both be correct, so that a resulting differential rate expression would be expressible as eq 19a or 19b, respectively, but not both.

At this point, it is important to point out the distinction between steps that are simultaneous and steps that are kinetically indistinguishable because they occur after the rate-limiting step. For example, eq 17 is not meant to represent a process in which the products are fluoride and silicic acid. Equation 17 is an elementary step, but it is followed by a combination of fast reactions that either have not been or cannot be monitored and do not influence the net reaction rate because they are all faster than the preceding step which governs the rate. It is unreasonable to assume that water substitution in SiF<sub>4</sub>-(aq) or loss of fluoride from  $SiF_4(H_2O)_2$ -whatever the case may be-proceeds in one fell swoop. Rather, the most likely scenario is one in which individual fluoride ligands are displaced by either water or hydroxide. It is commonplace to ignore the elementary steps that come after the rate-limiting steps and to write them instead as one subsequent summation reaction. Oftentimes, such elementary steps cannot be discerned. However, such summation reactions should not be interpreted as representing concerted multimolecular processes in which multiple substitutions occur simultaneously. Presumably, the fluoride anions are replaced one at a time through a series of associative or dissociative substitution mechanisms.

To fully explore this system, it would be necessary to fix the initial fluoride concentration at several values to determine whether the rate is invariant to fluoride concentration. There has been no systematic study of the effect of fluoride concentration on the rate, so that any predictions are almost entirely speculative. There is one report of fluoride suppression of the dissociation—hydrolysis, but the results were qualitative and cannot be used to support the existence of a preequilibrium or a rapid reversible reaction that produces a steady-state intermediate.<sup>123</sup>

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq}) \stackrel{K_{1}}{\longleftarrow} \operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{-}(\operatorname{aq}) + \operatorname{F}^{-}(\operatorname{aq}) \quad (16a)$$

$${\rm SiF_6}^{2-}({\rm aq}) \xrightarrow[k_{-1}]{k_1} {\rm SiF_5}^-({\rm aq}) + {\rm F}^-({\rm aq})$$
 (16b)

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{-}(\operatorname{aq}) + \operatorname{H}_{2}O(\operatorname{l}) \xrightarrow{k_{2}} \operatorname{products}$$
 (17)

$$-d[SiF_6^{2^-}]/dt = k_2[SiF_5^{-}]$$
(18)

$$-d[SiF_6^{2-}]/dt = K_1 k_2 [SiF_6^{2-}]/[F^-]$$
(19a)

$$-d[\mathrm{SiF_6}^{2^-}]/dt = \frac{k_1[\mathrm{SiF_6}^{2^-}]}{\frac{k_{-1}}{k_2}[\mathrm{F}^-] + 1}$$
(19b)

If eq 14 (irreversible as written) is in fact the ratelimiting step in the net dissociation—hydrolysis (eq 4), we would expect it to also be the rate-limiting step for the fluoride exchange reaction (eq 20). Consequently, a comparison of the two reaction rates should be instructive. If eq 16a or 16b is shown to be valid as the first step of the mechanism in the fluoride exchange reaction, then the same initial step can be assumed for the dissociation—hydrolysis. In both reactions, a loss of fluoride must start the process. Whether or not that step is the ratedetermining step is of course merely speculative at the present time.

In many ways, the fluoride exchange is more easily studied; its rate of exchange is given by the McKay equation (eq 21).<sup>125</sup> <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectrometric studies have shown that the rate (eq 21) of the fluoride exchange is rapid but less than 1000 s<sup>-1</sup>; both specific and general (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) acid catalyses were postulated.<sup>44,66</sup> An investigation of the exchange rate using radioactive fluorine (H<sup>18</sup>F) showed that the radiolabel was rapidly distributed between the HF and the SiF<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup>.<sup>126</sup>

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq}) + \underline{F}^{-}(\operatorname{aq}) \rightleftharpoons \underline{F}\operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{2-}(\operatorname{aq}) + F^{-}(\operatorname{aq}); \underline{F}^{-} = \operatorname{isotopic} \operatorname{label} (20)$$
$$R_{-} = - \frac{6[\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}][\underline{F}^{-}]}{6[\operatorname{SiF}_{6}^{2-}][\underline{F}^{-}]} \cdot \frac{\ln (1 - f)}{2}$$

$$P_{\text{ex}} = -\frac{1}{[\text{SiF}_6^{2^-}] + [\underline{F}^-]} \cdot \frac{\text{Im}(1^- T)}{t};$$
  
$$f = \text{fraction of exchange} \quad (21)$$

A catalytic mechanism (eqs 22 and 23) has been put forth for the acceleration of eq 16.<sup>44</sup> It is consistent with the general acid catalysis of dissociation– hydrolysis that was later observed with other Lewis acids, such as  $Li^+$  or  $Ca^{2+}$ .<sup>127</sup>

$$\mathrm{H}^{+} + \mathrm{SiF}_{6}^{2-} \rightleftharpoons [\mathrm{H} - \mathrm{F} - \mathrm{SiF}_{5}^{-}]^{\ddagger} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{HF} + \mathrm{SiF}_{5}^{-} \quad (22)$$

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{-} + \underline{\mathrm{F}}^{-} \rightleftharpoons \underline{\mathrm{FSiF}}_{5}^{2-} \tag{23}$$

It appears that either a metal cation or a proton can help a fluoride ligand off the silicon(IV) center; CaF<sup>+</sup>, LiF, and HF are better leaving groups than  $F^-$ . Whether such Lewis acid assistance represents a true dative bond or a weaker ion-pairing association is a matter of debate and does not affect the ability to determine an empirical rate law. The following differential rate expression was reported for the dissociation–hydrolysis of hexafluorosilicate<sup>127</sup>

rate = 
$$(k_0 + k_{\text{Li}}[\text{Li}^+] + k_{\text{Ca}}[\text{Ca}^{2+}])$$
 [SiF<sub>6</sub><sup>2-</sup>] (24)

where  $k_0 = 0.13 \text{ s}^{-1}$ ,  $k_{\text{Li}} = 0.065 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ , and  $k_{\text{Ca}} = 6.0 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ . Equation 24 does not account for specific acid catalysis, and Plakhotnik did not attempt to assess it. It is unclear whether his  $k_0$  included an effect from hydrogen ion or if the possibility of catalysis from hydrogen ion was even considered. Plakhotnik did argue in favor of complexes of the form  $[\text{Li}-\text{F}-\text{SiF}_5]^{-,128}$  analogous to the proton assistance in eq 22.

The fluoride anion exchange in SiF<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup> has been been studied by <sup>19</sup>F NMR spectrometry.<sup>129</sup> It has been concluded that the fluoride exchange in pentafluorosilicate is catalyzed by water, based on the loss of coupling with <sup>29</sup>Si above -60 °C. Anhydrous SiF<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup> appears to undergo Berry pseudorotation (intramolecular exchange), which results in equivalent <sup>19</sup>F NMR signals (given the time scale) but not loss of coupling. Addition of nitrogenous bases produced nonequivalent fluoride NMR signals and again no loss in coupling, but the coupling was lost when water was added to the sample and displaced the amine. In dichloromethane, there was rapid interconversion between pentacoordinate SiF<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup> and hexacoordinate SiF<sub>5</sub>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sup>-</sup>.

In addition, it was suggested that any Lewis base might catalyze the process. Moreover, it was proposed that  $SiF_5^-$  decomposition should begin with two rapid equilibria. In the first case (eq 25), there is intermolecular exchange; once the fluoride is removed as HF, any other fluoride is free to recombine.

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{-} + \operatorname{H}_{2}O \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{SiF}_{4}(OH)^{-} + HF$$
 (25)

In the second case (eq 26), there is intramolecular exchange. The trigonal bypyramidal pentafluorosilicate accepts a water ligand to become a pseudooctahedral aquo complex. When the hexacoordinate adduct loses that water molecule, the fluoride ligands assume different orientations than they had in the original trigonal bipyramidal geometry. This experimental fact was determined by varying the temperature and studying the reaction rate in the presence and absence of water.

$$\operatorname{SiF}_{5}^{-} + \operatorname{H}_{2}O \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{SiF}_{5}(\operatorname{H}_{2}O)^{-}$$
 (26)

As these results were obtained in a nonaqueous solvent, they suggest that a pentafluorosilicate anion is most likely to be hexacoordinate in an aqueous system, i.e., possess one aquo ligand. Regardless, the process was quite rapid. Note that this study did not address the initial loss of a fluoride from the hexa-fluorosilicate anion,  ${\rm SiF_6^{2-}}$ , or the fluoride exchange rate for that species.

Plakhotnik's work is perhaps the most reliable value for the uncatalyzed rate constant. Otherwise, only four studies focused on the kinetics of the dissociation—hydrolysis reaction appear in the literature. Two were performed in the early 20th century.<sup>130,131</sup> The third was published in 1962.<sup>93</sup> The fourth was published in 1975.<sup>94</sup> As these papers are routinely cited as the sources of information of the rate of eq 4, it is beneficial to critically examine them in detail.

In 1921, Hudleston and Bassett made an accidental discovery that "analytical reagent" hydrofluoric acid was contaminated with a considerable concentration of fluorosilicate species.<sup>130</sup> They reported that a fraction of the H<sup>+</sup> was "bound in a complex", and released slowly. They showed this by adding fixed amounts of NaOH and tracking the time until the phenolphthalein was rendered colorless. In their studies, Hudleston and Bassett did not distinguish between the two acid hydrogens of H<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub> and the six protons produced by subsequent hydrolysis: four from HF and two from Si(OH)<sub>4</sub>. In failing to distinguish between native H<sup>+</sup> and latent H<sup>+</sup>, they hopelessly convolved the rate of the fluorosilicate hydrolysis as explained below. To understand how the data analysis is flawed, it is necessary to understand the experimental procedure in some detail. In the first part of their investigation, Hudleston and Bassett began with fixed volumes of an ill-defined fluorosilicic acid solution (containing fluoride, acid, and fluorosilicates in unknown ratios). This portion of the work was intended to demonstrate the presence of latent hydrogen ions, which was in fact done.

In part two, they used a reagent prepared by the addition of silicon tetrafluoride gas to a suspension of precipitated hydrous silica. The resulting conglomeration shall be represented here as  $H_aX(H_b)$ , where the native acid hydrogens, H<sub>a</sub>, are distinguished from the latent hydrogen ions  $(H_b)$  produced by hydrolysis. They titrated all of the hydrogen ions with standard NaOH to a phenolphthalein end point and called this titer *N*; for clarity, their symbol is replaced here with  $V_{\infty}$ .  $V_{\infty}$  represents the total equivalents of H<sup>+</sup> from both acid hydrogen ions and latent hydrogen ions. Next, they added volumes less than  $V_{\infty}$ , and timed how long it took until all the NaOH was neutralized based on the loss of the phenolphthalein color. They called these *n*; their symbol is replaced here with  $V_t$ .  $V_t$  represents some portion of the total acid, regardless of source. Then they computed a ratio:  $C = (V_{\infty})$  $V_t/V_{\infty}$  = fraction of titratable acid remaining. Finally, they plotted log *C* against time and reported that a straight line could be drawn through the points.

They believed *C* represented  $[H_aX(H_b)]_t/[H_aX(H_b)]_0$ , that is, the ratio of the concentration of the reactant at time *t* to that at time zero. Consequently, they also believed their plot was equivalent to that for any first-order reaction where  $[A]_t/[A]_0 = ([P]_{\infty} - [P]_t)/([P]_{\infty} - [P]_0) = \exp(-kt)$  for a reactant A and product P. Their first problem is that they failed to account for  $[P]_0$ , which was from the acid hydrogens, in other words, they assumed  $V_0 = 0$ , but—in actuality— $V_0 =$  $2n_{H_2}SiF_6$ . It is rather surprising that the data were able to be fitted to a linear function since the data analysis relied on the erroneous assumption that the acid was all the result of the hydrolysis reaction. However, the acid hydrogen ions are neutralized essentially immediately while the latent hydrogen ions are neutralized slowly. Thus, the kinetic data incorrectly include all of the acid hydrogens of every  $H_2SiF_6$  molecule so that

$$V_t \cdot M_{\text{NaOH}} = 2n_{\text{H}_2} \text{SiF}_6 + f \cdot n_{\text{Na}_2} \text{SiF}_6 \qquad (27)$$

where  $M_{NaOH}$  is the molarity of the NaOH solution and *f* is some fraction of the latent H<sup>+</sup> resulting from the hydrolysis of Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub> to HF and Si(OH)<sub>4</sub>.

Their second problem results from the acidity of the silicic acid formed as a product. For a phenolphthalein titration, it is expected that the first acid hydrogen of silicic acid would be at least partly titratable since  $pK_{a1} = 9.83^{99}$  and  $pK_{In} = 9.6.^{132}$  Since  $pK_{a2} = 13.17$  for silicic acid, the second proton is probably not titratable using a phenolphthalein end point. From the basic chemical reaction, we know the total stoichiometry between hexafluorosilicic acid (native acid hydrogen ions + latent hydrogen ions) and sodium hydroxide must fall into a range (eq 26). This range is influenced by the titration error associated with the partial neutralization of the silicic acid formed by hydrolysis. Potentiometric titrations support setting  $V_{\infty} \cdot M_{\text{NaOH}} = 6$ ,<sup>123</sup> but the pH was about 7.0 at the single inflection point observed for the equivalent point. Since equivalence occurs  $\sim 2.6$ log units below the  $pK_a$  of phenolphthalein, Hudleston and Bassett's work had to partially titrate the silicic acid, which has one readily accessible deprotonation. It is worth pointing out that the acidity of silicic acid was not well-known at the time, and the equilibrium constants would not be determined until the late 20th century. On the basis of the relationships asserted in eqs 27 and 28, Hudleston and Bassett's C is expressible as eq 29.

$$6n_{\rm H_2}{\rm SiF}_6 \leq V_{\infty} \cdot M_{\rm NaOH} \leq 8n_{\rm H_2}{\rm SiF}_6 \qquad (28)$$

$$C = \frac{An_{\rm H_2SiF_6} - (2n_{\rm H_2SiF_6} + f \cdot n_{\rm Na_2SiF_6})}{8n_{\rm H_2SiF_6}}$$
(29)

where  $1/2 \le A \le 3/4$ . Because all of the acid hydrogens must have been neutralized first,  $n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6} = n_{\text{H}_2\text{SiF}_6}$ ; therefore, we can substitute into eq 29 and simplify to obtain

$$C = A - f = A - \Delta n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6} / n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6}$$
(30)

$$\frac{1/2 - \Delta n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6}}{3/4 - \Delta n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6}} n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6} (31)$$

where  $f = \Delta n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6}/n_{\text{Na}_2\text{SiF}_6}$  is the fraction of fluorosilicate consumed and the value of *A* ranges from 1/2 to 3/4. Because  $C \neq [\text{SiF}_6^{2-}]/[\text{SiF}_6^{2-}]_0$ , it is improper to plot ln *C* against time.

The third problem is a complication that the authors would not have been aware of at the time of their experiments but nevertheless adversely affects their conclusions. Ideally, there would have been a well-defined mathematical relationship between  $[SiF_6^{2-}]_{\ell}/[SiF_6^{2-}]_0$  and *C*, and it should have been possible to reanalyze the data, correcting for the stoichiometry problems above. However, the authors reported that they exposed their solutions to precipitated silica for 24 h and allowed silica to dissolve to equilibrium. It has been well-known that additional silicon(IV) is solubilized to give the dimeric species  $H_2Si_2F_{10}$  (vide supra).<sup>52,55,56,102,103</sup> Other polymeric anions, such as  $\mathrm{Si}_3\mathrm{F}_{16}{}^{4-}$  have also been speculated and debated.<sup>77,104</sup> Unfortunately, the first of these reports was not until some 20 years after these two investigations were completed. Accordingly, the stoichiometric relationship posited by eq 32 cannot be used to reanalyze the data as the composition of the starting reactant is entirely unknown and most likely includes some combination of dimeric and monomeric silicon(IV) species as well as possibly some HF or NaF as impurities. Under some conditions, even trimeric species may form.75,76

As a final point, the use of the term *normality* appears to have been inconsistent, if not incorrect, in some cases. Sometimes "acid normality" seems to refer only to acid hydrogen ions, but other times it seems to refer to the sum of acid and latent hydrogen ions. In some cases, the hydroxide should have been entirely consumed by the acid hydrogens and yet a color change is reported, thereby indicating that the base was in excess shortly after its addition. Such ambiguous (and perhaps even wrong) usage precludes a reanalysis of the data. Overall, such problems are sufficient to discredit the quantitative—but not the qualitative—results thus obtained.

The second study, by Hudleston and Rees in 1936, used similar methods, other than the generation of SiF<sub>4</sub>; therefore, it suffers from the same deficiencies. While the summary states that the hydrolysis of SiF<sub>4</sub>-(aq) produced by the initial dissociation is fast, it looks as though the reaction was not studied independently of the dissociation (as by transferring gaseous SiF<sub>4</sub> to an aqueous solution), and no data for that specific reaction are offered to support the assertion. The only recent studies of SiF<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis have been in the gas phase where silicon tetrafluoride reacts rapidly with excess water to give silicon dioxide and hydrogen fluoride.<sup>86</sup> When water is limited, a variety of partial hydrolysis products can be produced, including some  $\mu$ -oxo species, such as  $(F_3Si)_2O$  and  $(F_3SiO)_2SiF_2$ .

In their 1962 study, Cooke and Minski were careful to begin with Na<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub> rather than H<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>, so that did not suffer the problem of the acid hydrogens.<sup>93</sup> Because they used an almost identical experimental technique to Hudleston, Rees, and Bassett,<sup>130,131</sup> the problem of partially titrating silicic acid remains. That notwithstanding, their first order (base 10) plots are demonstrably linear with equal slopes, which increases the confidence in the final result. Their data suggest a half-life of about 110 s (first-order rate constant of 0.0063 s<sup>-1</sup>), so that the reaction is essentially complete (>99.2% after 7 *t*<sub>1/2</sub>) in about 13 min. In all cases, they began with solutions of sodium hexafluorosilicate; therefore, they did not assess possible fluoride, acid, or base dependence. Their starting concentrations ranged from 0.5 to 11 mM, so that any fluoride inhibition, which could have occurred as the reaction proceeded, was probably not observable. The first-order rate constant is substantially different from Plakhotnik's (vide supra), which was 0.13 s<sup>-1</sup> (7 $t_{1/2}$  = 37 s). If the true value is near either of these extremes or somewhere between, the reaction is essentially over before the water reaches the consumer. Incomplete understanding of the reaction system, including its intermediates and multiple equilibrium constants, has precluded a thorough investigation of the kinetics. It appears that the studies of the kinetics and the equilibria go hand-in-hand, so that an investigation of one is almost meaningless without accounting for the other.

Westendorf concluded that the dissociation-hydrolysis was completed in 15 min, but his study was complicated by the presence of  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Ca^{2+}$ , the effects of which were not taken into account.<sup>94</sup> While this is roughly the same as the results obtained by Cooke and Minski, the equilibrium position was also likely affected by a drop in pH (vide supra). It is uncertain how much weight should be given to this particular result as it was a small part of an overall investigation on biochemical impacts of fluoride at the cellular and molecular level.

#### V. Conclusions and Unresolved Issues

There is considerable debate over the composition and even the existence of some homo- and heteroleptic aquo-, fluoro-, and hydroxo complexes of silicon-(IV), which makes it impossible to predict what species might be found in real potable water supplies that are fluoridated or those that naturally contain fluoride and silicates as background ions. The only agreement seems to be that hexafluorosilicate does not undergo cumulative, consecutive displacements of hydroxide for fluoride. Even this agreed-upon "fact" would seem to be drawn into question by some of the observations of partial hydrolysis products in moist air, suggesting instead that the analytical tools were (are?) incapable of detecting the very low concentrations that might exist. Given the disparity in the speciation models, there is hardly conclusive evidence that consecutive, cumulative substitutions of hydroxide for fluoride are impossible. This assertion is based on the inability to fit potentiometric and some spectrometric data to a suitable system of equations, although it appears to be supported by multiple investigations. The available evidence suggests that neither hexafluorosilicate nor its partial dissociation/ hydrolysis products would complex with any transition-metal cations.

Many of the studies of the transformation of hexafluorosilicate have been geared toward ensuring a minimal concentration of free fluoride as a public health measure rather than knowing the equilibrium concentrations of all fluorosilicon(IV) complexes. Whether residual fluorosilicates or fluorosilicon(IV) complexes will be detectable with current instrumentation is debatable. Accounting for the effects of other chemicals on the fluoride speciation will make such analyses even more difficult. Fluoro complexes of some metals are well-studied, but only homoleptic complexes rather than various heteroleptic species that might be encountered in a typical aquatic system where a range of background mineral salts abound. Accordingly, there is a need for further study of heteroleptic fluoride complexes (especially with the common anions in drinking water) of aluminum(III) and possibly other metal cations. However, such research can reasonably be restricted to using fluoride salts (e.g., NaF or KF) rather than fluorosilicates.

Perturbation by dilution (as in a concentrationjump type of experiment) will probably be necessary to understand whether industrial-grade hexafluorosilicic acid actually contains polymers such as  $H_2Si_2F_{10}$  which must also undergo reaction when used as drinking water additives. Such approaches may also dispel unsupported claims that heteroleptic species such as  $SiF_4(H_2O)_2$  can spontaneously decompose to give  $Si(OH)_4$  and  $SiF_6^{2-}$ , akin to a disproportionation in redox chemistry.<sup>133</sup>

The kinetics of the dissociation and hydrolysis of hexafluorosilicate are poorly understood from a mechanistic or fundamental perspective. Most of the studies have been rather crude, simply adding a certain amount of the material to water and waiting a set time. The analytical tools applied have not necessarily been chosen for their optimal performance on such a task. The stability of silicon tetrafluoride in water, the formation of aquo (or other) adducts, and the rate of SiF<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis have been studied in a very cursory fashion and barely at all by adding tetrafluorosilane gas to water. Possible inhibitory effects from fluoride have not been investigated; only one qualitative report exists in the literature. Accelerative effects expected from various metal cations or hydrogen ion have not been fully probed.

On the other hand, all the rate data suggest that equilibrium should have been achieved by the time the water reaches the consumer's tap if not by the time it leaves the waterworks plant. Thus, better knowledge of the conditions at equilibrium are critical for planning any pharmacokinetic, pharmacological, toxicokinetic, or toxicological experiments. The EPA is aware of papers positing links between fluoridation agents and lead in the bloodstream or challenging the accepted chemistry.<sup>117,134,135</sup> To truly investigate such hypotheses, better chemical knowledge of the speciation is required. For the time being, it is probably best to stop using qualified expressions such as "virtually complete" or "essentially complete" in favor of more rigorous and quantitative descriptions, even if that hinders communication with the lay public. Once the equilibrium speciation and the rate laws have been better elucidated, it may be possible to perform tests to define a level of *completeness* and the time required to attain that level based on health effects data, which would appear to be most suited to the public health objectives behind drinking water regulation. A purely chemical definition of complete would appear to be rather arbitrary in nature, albeit easier to specify.

By definition, the true equilibrium position is not influenced by the direction of approach. In other

words, allowing hexafluorosilicate to dissociate and hydrolyze gives the same result as combining fluoride and (hydr)oxosilicates. Nevertheless, it is possible to view the net dissociation-hydrolysis as two distinct phases: a dissociation to SiF<sub>4</sub> and hydrolysis of SiF<sub>4</sub>. After all, tetrafluorosilane is a commercially available gas. Of course, it is not necessarily the same as the aquated species (more on that below). That notwithstanding, it is possible for a quasi-equilibrium or pseudo-equilibrium to be observed if the kinetics are influencing product formation. Therefore, it would be ideal to have equilibrium studies conducted from both directions to ensure that previous investigations were not confounded by the formation of semistable intermediates which would make the system biphasic. It is questionable whether the kinetics influence the formation and distribution of observable products, depending on the direction from which equilibrium is approached, namely, diluting a hexafluorosilicate solution as opposed to mixing solutions of fluoride and silicate. In the case of the latter, the existence of polymeric silicate anions may influence the speciation, at least initially.

Because of the forcing and hazardous conditions under which such complexes form and can be studied, it is likely that a mixture of Raman scattering spectroscopy, attenuated total reflectance or mirrored internal reflectance Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR or MIR-FTIR) spectroscopy, and <sup>19</sup>F NMR (and <sup>29</sup>Si NMR<sup>136</sup>) spectroscopy will be required to study the kinetics and equilibria (using specialized polymer or wax vessels). Like NMR spectroscopy, radioisotope studies may also be used to probe the rate of the fluoride exchange reaction to rule out or verify mechanistic steps. An important factor will be the definitive identification of the composition of the species in equilibrium, so that potentiometric data may be modeled to species already known to exist. In this way, it may be possible to rule out combinations of simultaneous equilibria that are inconsistent with the spectroscopic data even if they provide a satisfactory fit to the potentiometric data. Time resolution may present a problem for NMR, Raman, and IR spectroscopy in that acquisition times necessary for measurement may exceed the duration of the reaction. Chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques will probably be inapplicable to a system that continually shifts to maintain equilibrium unless the separation can be carried out on a time scale during which reequilibration cannot occur. It is not clear if current analytical techniques are capable of detecting whatever species exist under actual drinking water conditions, and such knowledge is critical for the formulation of sound policy and regulation. Table 6 lists species that may exist in fluoridated water systems (regardless of the fluoridating agent owing to natural silica). Ideally, we would like to be able to measure-or at least calculate-the concentrations of those species that do exist and rule out those that do not. Accomplishing this will be no small task, especially when the conditions needed to force a particular species to predominate remain largely unknown. At best, the various equilibrium speciation models reviewed here can collectively serve as a

Fable 6. Homoleptic and Heteroleptic Aquo-,
Hydroxo-, Oxo-, and Fluorosilicate Species Proposed
in, Reported in, or Inferred from the Literature (Gas
Phase, Nonaqueous/Aqueous Liquid Phase, and/or
Solid Phase)

coordination number of the Si <sup>IV</sup> center	fluorosilicates	aquo/hydroxo /oxosilicates	aquo/hydroxo/ oxo/fluorosilicates
6	SiF6 <sup>2–</sup> HSiF6 <sup>–</sup>	Si(OH) <sub>4</sub> (H <sub>2</sub> O) <sub>2</sub>	$\begin{array}{c} SiF_{5}(H_{2}O)^{-} \\ SiF_{5}(OH)^{2-} \\ SiF_{4}(OH)_{2}^{2-} \\ SiF_{4}(H_{2}O)_{2} \\ SiF(OH)_{2}(H_{2}O)_{3}^{+} \end{array}$
5	SiF5 <sup>-</sup> HSiF5	Si(OH)5 <sup>-</sup>	SiF <sub>4</sub> (OH) <sup>-</sup>
4	SiF <sub>4</sub>	$Si(OH)_4$ $SiO(OH)_3^-$ $SiO_2(OH)_2^{2-}$	$SiF_3(OH)$ $SiF_2(OH)_2$ $SiF(OH)_3$
3	none	SiO(OH) <sub>2</sub> SiO <sub>2</sub> (OH) <sup>-</sup>	Si(OH) <sub>2</sub> F <sup>+</sup>

guide. When metal cations are thrown into the mix (as would be the case in a real drinking water matrix), the problem becomes even more difficult.

In the absence of precise and accurate values for equilibrium constants and well-defined aqueousphase speciation, another approach might be to obtain reliable values for thermochemical parameters ( $\Delta H_{\rm f}, \Delta G_{\rm f},$  etc.) of individual species. These could then be used to calculate equilibrium constants for reactions otherwise unamenable to current techniques. It seems likely that a mixture of computational and analytical strategies will be required to sort out the exact speciation if such a task is even possible. In the meantime, we must try to make the best use of the information available to us and focus on the consistencies as well as what is unequivocally established as chemical fact.

#### VI. Acknowledgments

The following individuals are mentioned for providing or procuring materials used in this review: Ray Hauck, Darren A. Lytle, Christina M. Feld, Thomas G. Reeves, Tammy Bottomley, Heather Wright, and Beth Williams. Matthew L. Magnuson is acknowledged for his careful review of this manuscript and thoughtful comments. Michael R. Schock is acknowledged for his assistance in the production of the fractional distribution plots.

#### VII. References

- California Assembly, No. 1729, Jan 5, 2000, Code: Health and Safety Code, Sect.: 116412 and 116560, Drinking water: fluoridation.
- (2) Urbansky, E. T.; Schock, M. R. Int. J. Environ. Stud. 2000, 57, 597–637.
- (3) Feldman, I.; Morken, D.; Hodge, H. C. *J. Dent. Res.* **1957**, *36*, 192–202.
- NRC Health Effects of Ingested Fluoride; National Academy Press: Washington, D.C., 1993.
   Zipkin, I.; McClure, F. J. Pub. Health Rep. 1951, 66, 1523–1532.
- Zipkin, I.; McClure, F. J. *Pub. Health Rep.* **1931**, *bb*, 1523–1532.
   *Fluoride Drinking Waters*; McClure, F. J., Ed.; Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service: Bethesda, MD, 1962; Vol. Publication No. 825;
- (7) Collins, T. F. X.; Sprando, R. L.; Black, T. N.; Shackelford, M. E.; Bryant, M. A.; Olejnik, N.; Ames, M. J.; Rorie, J. I.; Ruggles, D. I. Food Chem. Toxicol. **2001**, *39*, 601.
- (8) McClelland, N. I.; Gregorka, D. A. Water Eng. Manage. 1986, 18.
- (9) McClelland, N. I.; Gregorka, D. A.; Carlton, B. D. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1989, 23, 14–18.

- (10) American National Standards Institute/National Sanitation Foundation. Drinking Water Treatment Chemicals-Health Effects; Standard No. ANSI/NSF 60-2000a; NSF International: Ann Arbor, MI, 2000. (11) *Review of Fluoride Benefits and Risks*; U.S. Department of
- Health and Human Services, Public Health Service: Washington, D.C., 1991.
- (12) Fluoridation: Litigation and Changing Public Policy, University of Michgan: Ann Arbor, MI, Aug 9–10, 1983; Report of a Workshop
- (13) Recommendations for Using Fluoride to Prevent and Control Dental Caries in the United States. In Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: 2001
- (14) *Water Fluoridation Census.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1993.
- (15)Chenier, P. J. Survey of Industrial Chemistry, 2nd rev. ed.; Wiley-VCH: New York, 1992; pp 50-51.
- (16) Zambonini, F. Ann. Oss. Vesuviano 1932, 1, 17–129.
   (17) Zambonini, F.; Carobbi, G. Atti Accad. Lincei 1926, 4, 171–5.
- (18) Le Guern, F.; Bernard, A. Bull. Volcanol. 1982, 45, 161-6.
- (19) Rimkevich, V. S. In Vses. Soveshch. Eksp. Tekh. Mineral. Petrogr., [Mater.], 10th; Mel'nik, Y. P., Ed.; Naukova Dumka: Kiev, USSR, 1981 (Meeting Date 1978).
- (20) Herman, P.; Vanderstappen, R.; Hubaux, A. Acad. R. Sci. Outre-Mer 1961, 16.
- Carobbi, G. Atti Mem. Accad., Sci. Modena 1936, 1, 33-42. (21)
- Dictionary of Inorganic Compounds; Chapman & Hall: London, (22)England, 1992; s.v. "Sodium hexafluorosilicate(IV), Na2SiF6",
- (23) Dictionary of Inorganic Compounds; Chapman & Hall: London, England, 1992; s.v. "Potassium hexafluorosilicate, K<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>", Compound No. IC-018591, Vol. 3; p 3217.
- (24) Serafimova, E. K. *Vulkanol. Seismol.* 1996, 63–98.
  (25) Serafimova, E. K.; Semenova, T. F.; Vergasova, L. P.; Filatov, S. K.; Epifanova, V. B.; Ananev, V. V. Vulkanol. Seismol. 1996, 46 - 55
- (26) Water Fluoridation: A Manual for Water Plant Operators, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA, 1994.
- (27) Engineering and Administrative Recommendations for Water Fluoridation. In Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA, 1995.
- Water Fluoridation Principles and Practices, 3rd ed.; American Water Works Association: Denver, CO, 1988. (28)
- Ciavatta, L.; Iuliano, M.; Porto, R. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 1773-(29) 1779.
- Sudakova, T. N.; Krasnoshchekov, V. V.; Frolov, Y. G. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] **1978**, 23, 1150–1152. (30)
- Baes, C. F., Jr.; Mesmer, R. E. *The Hydrolysis of Cations*; Krieger: Malabar, FL, 1986; pp 336–342. Felmy, A. R.; Cho, H.; Rustad, J. R.; Mason, M. J. *J. Solution* (31)
- (32)Chem. 2001, 30, 509-525.
- Sefcik, J.; Goddard, W. A. I. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* **2001**, *65*, 4435–4443. (33)
- (34) Knight, C. T. G.; Kinrade, S. D. In Silicon in Agriculture, Datnoff, L. E., Snyder, G. H., Korndörfer, G. H., Eds.; Elsevier: Amster dam, The Netherlands, 2001; Vol. 8. Kubelka, P.; Přistoupil, V. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1931**, 197, 391–
- (35)394.
- (36)Busey, R. H.; Schwartz, E.; Mesmer, R. E. Inorg. Chem. 1980, *19*, 758–761.
- (37) Crosby, N. T. J. Appl. Chem. 1969, 19, 100-102.
- Golovnev, N. N. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1986, 31, (38)367 - 368
- (39)Golovnev, N. N.; Golovnev, I. I. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1984, 29, 673–676.
- Kleboth, K. Monatsh. Chem. 1969, 100, 1494-1498. (40)
- Dean, P. A. W.; Evans, D. F. J. Chem. Soc. A 1967, 698-701. (41)
- Christe, K. O.; Wilson, W. W. J. Fluorine Chem. 1990, 46, 339-(42)342
- (43) Deverell, C.; Schaumburg, K.; Bernstein, H. J. J. Chem. Phys. **1968**, 49, 1276–1283.
- (44)Muetterties, E. L.; Phillips, W. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 1084 - 1088
- (45) Badachhape, R. B.; Hunter, G.; McCory, L. D.; Margrave, J. L. Inorg. Chem. 1966, 5, 929–931.
- (46) Tiers, G. V. D. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1960, 16, 363-365.
- Connick, R. E.; Poulson, R. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1959, 63, 568-(47)569
- (48) Heicklen, J.; Knight, V. Spectrochim. Acta 1964, 20, 295-298.
- (49) Kleboth, K. Monatsh. Chem. 1969, 100, 1057-1068.
- (50) Borodin, P. M.; Zao, N. K.; Petrov, N. S. J. Struct. Chem. (USSR) [Engl. Trans.] 1973, 14, 564-568.
- Borodin, P. M.; Zao, N. K. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1972, 17, 959–962. (51)
- (52)Plakhotnik, V. N. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1974, 48, 1550-1551.

- (53) Plakhotnik, V. N.; Kotlyar, T. N. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. [Engl. Trans. | 1976, 50, 723-725.
- (54) Plakhotnik, V. N. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1974, 48, 1651 - 1653
- Ryss, I. G.; Plakhotnik, V. N. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] (55)**1970**, *15*, 1742–1745. (56) Hayek, E.; Kleboth, K. *Monatsh. Chem.* **1961**, *92*, 1027–1033.
- (57)
- Buslaev, E., Riebouri, K. *Monatsh. Chem.* **1901**, *92*, 1027–1033. Buslaev, Y. V.; Petrosyants, S. P. *Sov. J. Coord. Chem. [Engl. Trans.*] **1980**, *5*, 123–129. Borodin, P. M.; Zao, N. K. *Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.*] **1971**, *16*, 1720–1722. (58)
- Kucheryaev, A. G.; Lebedev, V. A.; Ovchinnikov, I. M. J. Struct. Chem. (USSR) [Engl. Trans.] 1970, 11, 858-859.
   Kleboth, K.; Rode, B. M. Monatsh. Chem. 1974, 105, 815-821.
   Christe, K. O.; Dixon, D. A.; McLemore, D.; Wilson, W. W.;
   Checker, L. A. Detter, L. A. J. Eleverine (Dec. 1990) 101 151. (59)
- (60)
- (61)Sheehy, J. A.; Boatz, J. A. J. Fluorine Chem. 2000, 101, 151-153
- (62)
- Behrends, K.; Kiel, G. *Naturwissenschaften* **1967**, *54*, 537. Clark, H. C.; Corfield, P. W. R.; Dixon, K. R.; Ibers, J. A. *J. Am.* (63)Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 3360-3361.
- Clark, H. C.; Dixon, K. R. Chem. Commun. (London) 1967, 717. (64)
- (65)
- (66)
- Schomburg, D.; Krebs, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1984**, *23*, 1378–1381. Klanberg, F.; Muetterties, E. L. *Inorg. Chem.* **1968**, *7*, 155–160. Dixon, D. A.; Farnham, W. B.; Heilemann, W.; Mews, R.; Noltemeyer, M. *Heteroat. Chem.* **1993**, *4*, 287–295. (67)
- (68)Farnham, W. B.; Dixon, D. A.; Middleton, W. J.; Calabrese, J. C.; Harlow, R. L.; Whitney, J. F.; Jones, G. A.; Guggenberger, L. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1987**, 109, 476–483. Dixon, D. A.; Hertler, W. R.; Chase, D. B.; Farnham, W. B.;
- (69)Davidson, F. Inorg. Chem. **1988**, 27, 4012–4018. Kira, M.; Sato, K.; Sakurai, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, 110,
- (70)4599-4602
- Stevenson, W. H. I.; Wilson, S.; Martin, J. C.; Farnham, W. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, 107, 6340–6352. (71)
- Webster, O. W.; Hertler, W. R.; Sogah, D. Y.; Farnham, W. B.; (72)RajanBabu, T. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5706-5708.
- Corriu, R.; Guérin, C.; Henner, B.; Wang, Q. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1989**, *365*, C7–C10. (73)
- (74) Schwarz, H. In The Chemistry of Organic Silicon Compounds; Patai, S., Rappoport, Z., Eds.; Wiley: Chicester, U.K., 1989; Vol. 2. Part 1
- (75) Gel'mbol'dt, V. O.; Gavrilova, L. A.; Ennan, A. A.; Petrosyants, S. P. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1983, 28, 1527-1528.
- (76) Gel'mbol'dt, V. O.; Gavrilova, L. A.; Ennan, A. A.; Petrosyants,

- (76) Germbol'dt, V. O.; Gavrilova, L. A.; Ennan, A. A.; Petrosyants, S. P. *Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.]* **1985**, *30*, 663–665.
  (77) Harris, J. J.; Rudner, B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1968**, *90*, 515–517.
  (78) Harris, J. J.; Rudner, B. *J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem.* **1972**, *14*, 75–87.
  (79) Smith, R. W. *Soc. Min. Eng. Trans.* **1965**, 160–068.
  (80) Roberson, C. E.; Barnes, R. A. *Chem. Geol.* **1978**, *21*, 239–256.
  (81) Tandura, S. N.; Voronkov, M. G.; Alekseev, N. V. *Top. Curr.*
- *Chem.* **1986**, *131*, 99–189. Farnham, W. B. In *Synthetic Fluorine Chemistry*; Olah, G. A., Chambers, R. D., Surya Prakash, G. K., Eds.; Wiley: New York, (82) 1992
- (83) Kost, D.; Kalikhman, I. In *The Chemistry of Organic Silicon Compounds*, Rappoport, Z., Apeloig, Y., Eds.; Wiley: Chichester, U.K., 1998; Vol. 2, Part 2.
- Blinder, V. E.; Ennan, A. A.; Chobotarev, A. N.; Chivireva, N. (84)A. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1977, 51, 1255.Ault, B. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5742–5746.
- (85)
- Margrave, J. L.; Sharp, K. G.; Wilson, P. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (86)
- 1970, 92, 1530-1532. Margrave, J. L.; Sharp, K. G.; Wilson, P. N. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. (87)*Lett.* **1969**, *5*, 995–997.
- (88) Dzerzhko, E. K.; Garnovskii, A. D.; Ennan, A. A. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] **1979**, 24, 198–201.
- (89)Miller, D. B.; Sisler, H. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 4998-5000.
- (90) Guertin, J. P.; Onyszchuck, M. Can. J. Chem. 1968, 46, 987-993.
- (91) Krylov, V. N.; Komarov, E. V. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1970, 15, 389-390.
- (92)Golovnev, N. N. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1984, 29, 1443-1445.
- Cooke, J. R.; Minski, M. J. J. Appl. Chem. 1962, 12, 123-127. Westendorf, J. The Kinetics of Acetylcholinesterase Inhibition and (94)the Influence of Fluoride and Fluoride Complexes on the Permeability of Erythrocyte Membranes. Ph.D. Thesis. [Engl. Transl.] von Moltke, J., Transl. University of Hamburg: Hamburg,
- Germany, 1975. (95) Gmelin Handbook of Inorganic and Organometallic Chemistry, 8th ed. *Silicon*; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1992; s.v. "System H<sub>2</sub>SiF<sub>6</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O", Suppl. Vol. B8; pp 120–127. Mesmer, R. E.; Baes, C. F., Jr. *Inorg. Chem.* **1969**, *8*, 618–626. Ciavatta, L. *Ann. Chim.* **1986**, *76*, 133–142.
- (96)
- (97)
- (98) McMahon, T. B.; Kebarle, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6502-6505.
- (99) Nordstrom, D. K. ACS Symposium Series 416; American Chemcial Society: Washinton, D.C., 1990; Chapter 31.

- (100) Katorina, O. V.; Masalovich, V. M.; Moshkareva, G. A. Russ. J.
- Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1985, 30, 758-759.
   (101) Zaitsev, P. M.; Ionova, L. A.; Oknina, I. A.; Sadelova, N. I.; Kuznetsova, G. V. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1987, 32, 1088-1091.

- S. P. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1981, 26, 1584–1586.
   (105) Čadek, J.; Malkovský, M. Acta Univ. Carol., Geol. 1966, 4, 251– 270

- (106) Pitter, P. Water Res. 1985, 19, 281–284.
  (107) Baumann, E. W. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1969, 31, 3155–3162.
  (108) Couturier, Y. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1986, 2, 171–177.
  (109) Zaraisky, G. P. In Fluids in the Crust: Equilibrium and Transport Properties, Shmulovich, K. I., Yardley, B. W. D., Gonchar, G. G., Eds.; Chapman & Hall: London, England, 1994.
- (110) Phillips, B. L.; Casey, W. H.; Crawford, S. N. Geochim. Cosmo-chim. Acta **1997**, 61, 3041–3049.
- (111) Tagirov, B.; Schott, J.; Harrichoury, J.-C. Chem. Geol. 2002, 184,  $30\bar{1} - 310.$
- (112) Nordstrom, D. K.; Jenne, E. A. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1977, 41, 175-188.
- (113) Bassett, R. L.; Wood, W. W. In Trace Substances in Environmental Health; Hemphill, D. D., Ed.; University of Missouri: Columbia, MO, 1978; Vol. XII.
- (114) Krylov, V. N.; Komarov, E. V.; Pushlenkov, M. F. Sov. Radio*chem. [Engl. Trans.*] **1971**, *13*, 445–449. (115) Feld, C. M.; Lytle, D. A.; Schock, M. R. *Proc.–Water Qual.*
- Technol. Conf. 2000, 1358–1376.
- (116) (a) Pommerenk, P.; Schafran, G. C. Proc.-Annu. Conf., Am. Water Works Assoc. 1998, C, Water Research, 255-272. (b) Pommerenk, P.; Schafran, G. C. J.-Am. Water Works Assoc. 2002, 94 (2), 99-108.
- (117) Masters, R. D.; Coplan, M. J. Int. J. Environ. Stud. 1999, 56, 435-449.
- (118) Haque, R.; Cyr, N. Faraday Soc. Trans. 1970, 66, 1848-1853. (119) Worthington, K. K.; Haring, M. M. Ind. Eng. Chem. 1931, 3,
- 7 9

- (120) Haque, R.; Reeves, L. W. Can. J. Chem. 1966, 44, 2769-2772. (121) Yoshioka, Y.; Nakamura, N.; Chihara, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.
- 1988, 61, 3037-3041. (122) Colton, E. J. Chem. Educ. 1958, 35, 562-563.
- (123) Ingols, R. S. J.-Am. Water Works Assoc. 1960, 52, 927-929.
- (124) Plakhotnik, V. N.; Drabkina, A. K. Kinet. Catal. [Engl. Trans.] 1977, 18, 187-190.
- (125) Espenson, J. H. Chemical Kinetics and Reaction Mechanisms; McGraw-Hill: New York, 1981; p 53.
- (126) Aten, A. H. W., Jr.; Bigot, J. A. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1953, 72. 1002
- (127) Plakhotnik, V. N. Kinet. Catal. [Engl. Trans.] 1975, 16, 1211-1214
- (128) Plakhotnik, V. N. Kinet. Catal. [Engl. Trans.] 1973, 14, 1417-1418.
- (129)Gibson, J. A.; Ibbott, D. G.; Janzen, A. F. Can. J. Chem. 1973, 51, 3203-3210.
- (130) Hudleston, L. J.; Bassett, H. J. Chem. Soc. (London) 1921, 119, 403-416.
- (131) Rees, A. G.; Hudleston, L. J. J. Chem. Soc. (London) 1936, 288, 1334 - 1338
- (132) Vogel's Textbook of Quantitative Chemical Analysis; Jeffery, G. H., Bassett, J., Mendham, J., Denney, R. C., Eds.; Longman Scientific/Wiley: New York, 1989; p 265.
- (133) Wagner, C. R.; Ross, W. H. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 1917, 9, 1116-1123.
- (134) Masters, R. D.; Coplan, M. J.; Hone, B. T.; Dykes, J. E. Neurotoxicology 2000, 21, 1091–1100.
- (135) Masters, R. D. Annu. Rev. Polit. Sci. 2001, 4, 345-369.
- Suresh, B. S.; Thompson, J. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (136)1987, 1123-1126.
- Vesely, J.; Čadek, J. Geol. Genezis Flyuoritovykh Mestorozhd. (137)1986, 143-148.
- (138) Masalovich, V. M.; Moshkareva, G. A.; Agasyan, P. K. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. [Engl. Trans.] 1979, 24, 196-198.

CR020403C